
MIGHTY RIVER POWER ANNUAL REPORT 2003

Potential



02 Highlights 2003
06 Board and Chief Executive’s Report
12 Operational Review
26 Sustainability Update
34 The Board
36 Corporate Governance
38 Executive Management
40 Report of the Auditor-General
41 Financial Statements
70 Four Year Financial Review
72 Statutory Information
75 Directory

Cover Photograph: Ohakuri Spillway during routine maintenance spill.



To make the most out of our 
assets, we must understand their
demands and their potential.
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Operating Surplus before Interest, Non-recurring Items and Taxation of $119.5 million,

represents a 37% increase on 2002, reflecting improved operational strategies Further

improvements in the performance of Mercury Energy, Mighty River Power’s retail brand,

reinforced its position as the leading energy brand in the upper North Island Acquired

100% ownership of 122MW Southdown Co-generation plant   Net Surplus after Taxation 

of $113.5 million boosted by $34.2 million non-recurring item primarily associated with the

exit of the Southdown Power Sale Agreement Further investment in geothermal and

thermal assets improved the Group’s generation portfolio balance Fixed Rate Bond  

Issue of $200 million materially improved the Group’s financial strength, reducing

reliance on bank funding and lengthening the debt maturity profile Release of “Mighty

River Power and the Single Bottom Line”, the Company’s second Sustainability Report



MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3 3

Total Equity/Total Assets
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Net Surplus after Taxation
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Operating Surplus before Interest, Non-recurring Items and Taxation
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$120Million$40Million $60Million $80Million $100Million0 $20Million

Operating Cashflow
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$120Million$40Million $60Million $80Million $100Million0 $20Million

$120Million$40Million $60Million $80Million $100Million0 $20Million

Adjusted to exclude non-recurring cash items Actual 

Adjusted to exclude non-recurring items Actual 

Adjusted to exclude non-recurring items Actual 

Return on average Shareholders’ Equity

0% 2.5% 5% 7.5% 10% 12.5% 15%
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Natural Potential: The resources 
we share responsibility for are
awesome in their power and yet
curiously delicate in their balance.
We coax what we can from nature’s huge reserves to light, heat and run businesses 
and homes. But we never forget that the resources we work with are driven by nature. 
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Welcome to Mighty River Power’s 2003 Annual Report. 
It is pleasing to look back on what has been a challenging
but ultimately very satisfying year. Our business focus
since formation four years ago has been on building a
balanced generation base, matching that to a stable retail
base thus achieving strong cash flows and a solid balance
sheet. The Company’s best financial performance to date
means we are now well-placed to move ahead with
expansion and growth.

Our plans for the future represent a shift in direction, 
as our emphasis to date has been on securing a sound
financial footing. The internal focus has been on
rationalising and improving the performance of assets 
we were allocated on formation and assets we have 
since acquired. 

Our shareholders have supported us by accepting reduced
dividends. This has allowed us to quickly achieve balance
sheet ratios comparable with our private sector competitors
whilst consolidating our non-hydro generation facilities.
The resulting interest cost reduction combined with
improved operating performance means we now have
sufficient financial strength and quality of operating cash
flow to accommodate further investment.

Financial Returns
Operating Surplus before Interest, Non-recurring items
and Taxation rose from $87.2 million in the 2002 financial
year to $119.5 million in 2003 while operating revenue
increased from $595.1 million to $646.2 million.

Substantial financial benefits arose from the Group’s
decision to exit the onerous Power Sale Agreement with
Southdown Cogeneration Limited and the subsequent
acquisition of the remaining 50% shareholding in the
122MW Southdown plant. This resulted in the releasing of
a provision from the balance sheet that had recognised the
liability associated with the onerous pricing conditions of
the Agreement. The release of the provision more than
offset the costs of exit, and was a major contributor to the
non-recurring gain of $34.2 million reported in the
accounts. This culminated in a Net Surplus after Taxation
of $113.5 million, up from $47.1 million in 2002.

There was also a notable impact from the above Southdown
transactions on Return on Shareholders’ Equity, which
increased from 6.4% to 14.0%. Excluding the non-recurring
items, this year’s return was 10.0%, exceeding our
Statement of Corporate Intent target of 8.3%. 

Board and Chief Executive’s Report
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The termination payment made to exit the Southdown
Power Sale Agreement had a significant one-off negative
impact on Operating Cashflow, which at $81.7 million was
just $3.9 million ahead of last year. Without the Southdown
termination payment Operating Cashflow would have been
approximately $113 million.

Balance Sheet Strengthening
Our balance sheet strengthening strategy continued 
with the Total Equity to Total Assets ratio increasing 
from 40.5% in 2000 to 57.3% in 2003 and Net Debt/
Net Debt Plus Equity improving from 47.8% to 35.1% 
over the same period. Total debt increased by only 
$8.7 million from 2002 despite expansion of the
Rotokawa generation facility, the termination of the
Southdown Power Sale Agreement and the consolidation
of the remaining 50% ownership in Southdown. Total 
debt has decreased by $132.6 million over the past 
three years to $470.8 million at 30 June 2003.

Our financial strength was further enhanced by the issue
of $200 million, 10-year, Fixed Rate Bonds in May 2003.
The Bond Issue was part of our strategy to seek a longer-
term debt maturity profile and diversify our debt portfolio. 

The Bond Issue was structured to give Mighty River
Power the option of repaying the Bonds after five years 
or resetting the interest rate at that time. The Issue 
was heavily oversubscribed and the early repayment
option was seen as an innovative feature. The Company
was awarded the inaugural Excellence in Treasury 
Award by the Institute of Financial Professionals 
New Zealand Inc (INFINZ) for its overall Treasury
strategy and execution.

Post balance date the Company received a “positive
outlook” from Standard & Poor’s on its BBB/A-2 credit
rating and announced a further but smaller Fixed Rate
Bond Issue for September 2003.

On satisfactory completion of this second Bond Issue, the
majority of debt will be secured through long-term Fixed
Rate Bonds, thereby providing increased funding flexibility
to support investment in additional generation capacity.

It is expected that the now proven quality operating
cashflows, which have on average been $85 million since
formation, will also underpin such investments and enable
Net Debt/Net Debt plus Equity to remain in a similar
range to the past two years.
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Generation
The electricity industry faces testing times with the public
focus on New Zealand’s ability to meet and manage future
energy needs. Upward pressure on wholesale prices is
likely to continue as a result of the rundown of Maui gas
supply and the transition from this cheap, and until now,
plentiful fuel source to higher cost alternatives. 

Government has announced the establishment of an
Electricity Commission mandated to govern the industry,
including responsibility for ensuring security of supply.
This is to be achieved by contracting additional generation
to be held as dry year reserve capacity.

One of the impacts of the decision to contract plant to
exclusively provide dry year cover will be to cap wholesale
prices when hydrological conditions are poor. Unless
carefully managed, this could adversely impact on future
decisions by the industry to invest in new plant.

While we await details of how the Commission will go
about determining and contracting this capacity, Mighty
River Power is assessing the viability of recommissioning
the 250 MW Marsden B oil-fired plant. Any decision on
utilising Marsden B will be complementary to ongoing
plans for expansion of our generation capacity.

We see the main opportunities for sustainable growth in
our generation portfolio as being driven by the expertise
our people have developed in geothermal generation. 

In the second half of the year we announced an agreement
with Tuaropaki Trust to take a 25% equity holding in
Tuaropaki Power Company, owner of a 55MW geothermal
plant at Mokai near Taupo. Mighty River Power will
support expansion of the Mokai plant to nearly 100MW by
winter 2005 while continuing its existing operations and
management agreement. Expansion of capacity at the
Rotokawa geothermal plant to 32MW was completed in
late 2002 and we entered an agreement with Putauaki
Trust to explore and develop another geothermal field
under Trust land near Kawerau. 

As referred to previously, we took full ownership of the
Southdown Co-generation plant during the year. This
gives us greater flexibility in managing our generation 

portfolio without the constraints imposed by the previous
joint venture arrangement. Southdown’s capacity can
offset periods of poor hydrology while in better hydrology
periods, gas resources can be conserved. 

Hydro generation remains the core component of our
business. Our desire is to obtain more flexibility from our
existing assets on the Waikato River and we have sought
this in our resource consents application. That flexibility 
is required for the efficient and sustainable use of water
flowing through the Waikato system, the need for which
has been proven with the high variability in inflow
conditions experienced in recent years and the rundown 
of Maui gas. The Resource Consent hearings commenced
in November 2002 and closed in August 2003. However,
the final form of the Consent will not be known until
completion of any Appeals process.

Retail
Our well-balanced generation portfolio in the upper 
North Island will consolidate our position as a key energy
provider to the most populous residential market and
largest business market in the country.

Retail activities are now operating under a single brand,
Mercury Energy, with the bulk of our 283,000 customers
based in the region north of Taupo.

During the year wholesale price increases flowed through
to retail prices. This has resulted in retail prices that are
more aligned with future investment costs thus
supporting, rather than hindering, investment in additional
generation capacity.

Further performance improvements by Mercury Energy
are allowing us to concentrate on delivering innovative
retail contracts to commercial customers and enhanced
services to residential customers. These services which
drive our ongoing retail customer retention and acquisition
campaigns, include Mercury Duo, a single monthly bill for
both gas and electricity.

Mighty River Power believes that customers should 
always have the option of contracting out of price volatility
and we have continually offered retail hedging options,
irrespective of market conditions.



We believe our range of products and services satisfy 
our customers and that satisfaction is reflected in our 
key performance indicators. The standardisation of 10%
prompt payment discounts for all residential accounts, 
an additional reward of 2% discount for electronic
payment, combined with monthly meter reading wherever
reasonably possible, have simplified customer processes,
reduced the source of uncertainties for customers, and
improved debt collections.

This has also shown up in a significant reduction in the
annual rate of telephone and written customer contacts
with the Company proving service and quality benefits to
Mercury Energy customers, whilst achieving cost savings. 

The relatively low churn rates and good growth in
customer numbers now being experienced by Mercury
Energy is testimony to the fact that our pricing and
superior service represent value to customers. This
position has been hard won over a difficult period since
de-regulation post 1999.

In the mass markets customers have a preference for
suppliers such as Mercury Energy that provide “no hassle”
service quality and reliability.

Our People
Over the past few years our people have committed to 
a strategic direction that involved strengthening Group
financial capability, achieving operating efficiencies and
providing service quality improvements to customers. 
This report reflects the tremendous effort and enthusiasm
of our people and the underlying support of their families.
Without their ongoing efforts, this year’s success and
future successes would not be possible.

During the financial year there was a change to our Board,
with Hilary Webber’s valuable contribution ending upon
completion of her term of appointment. We welcome her
replacement, Caroline Ball.

The Future
Mighty River Power has now matured into a business
capable and ready for expansion and confident of its role
in providing leading energy services to businesses and the
largest residential area of New Zealand.

Our growth plans will assist the national goal of ensuring
sustainable generation and our strong retail position in the
upper North Island will ensure competitive alternatives for
customers in the region.

The need to maintain a sound balance sheet in order 
to fund our expansion plans will see no dividend paid 
to our shareholders from the completed financial year. 
We are grateful that this reinvestment of all surplus
cashflow into our business is a decision fully supported 
by our shareholders.
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Rob Challinor

Chairman

20 August 2003

Doug Heffernan

Chief Executive

20 August 2003





Harnessing Potential: We need 
a balanced generation portfolio.
Although the mighty Lake Taupo and Waikato River are the mainstays of 
our generation capacity, we must evolve other energy sources as well to
maintain a sustained energy system. Our generation processes are proven.
Our technology is world class. But we always strive to do more.
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Introduction
Our focus at Mighty River Power is to maximise the benefits
from all aspects of the value chain in which we participate.

In successfully and efficiently managing our operations,
we are always conscious of how we interact with and
participate in the communities and environments where
we are based.

We have a long and active relationship with many
communities in the region north of Taupo and we will
continue to build on these effective community partnerships.

We measure our success in the ongoing financial
performance and hence sustainability of our business
while ensuring we use natural resources, particularly
water and geothermal steam, in a manner that is both
sustainable and considers the interests of other groups
who have a relationship with the resources. 

Commercially, our role as an energy provider makes an
invaluable contribution to business in the upper North
Island. Mighty River Power’s energy is a key, if often
background, component in the lifestyle and commercial
productivity of the most populous region in the country.

Resources
Mighty River Power’s fuel source for the Waikato River
hydro system is inflows into Lake Taupo and the Waikato
catchment area.

For the first half of the 2003 financial year, the Company
experienced normal hydrology conditions for the first time
since formation. These normal hydrology conditions were
then partly offset by the worst ever inflows recorded for
the period mid-March to mid-May, already our traditionally
lowest inflow period. These low inflow levels led to a
sustained period of minimum production so as to arrest
the rapid decline of storage in Lake Taupo while maintaining
minimum flow requirements in the Waikato River. 

The small storage size of Lake Taupo relative to normal
production meant storage levels rapidly declined during
this period of exceptionally poor inflows and the Lake
moved close to minimum operating levels.

This low inflow sequence was further compounded by 
dry conditions in the South Island and concerns in the
market about thermal fuel supplies, which led in early
autumn to national concerns about the possibility of
shortages in late winter.

4 Week Rolling Average Daily Inflows 20 Year Mean Inflows

Operational Review
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Concerted nationwide demand reductions, improved
thermal fuel supply and more normal inflows from 
June 2003 quickly abated these concerns.

Our highly efficient use of the Waikato system already has
us positioned as a low cost generator of electricity and 
we are seeking to enhance this further through increased
flexibility of our Waikato Resource Consent conditions.

We believe increased flexibility is necessary to maximise 
the economic benefit available to the nation from this
limited fuel resource, which is constrained by a small
storage range within the lake, highly variable water
inflows, and the fact there are unlikely to be any further
large-scale hydro generation projects added to the 
current Waikato system.

The flexibility we are seeking in our hydro operations 
is detailed in our Resource Consent application. 
That application was heard between November 2002 
and August 2003. However, the final form of the 
Consent will not be known until completion of any
Appeals process.

In seeking this additional flexibility we have carried out
extensive studies to ensure minimal impact on the lake
and the river from our proposed activities. This work has
enhanced our relationships with those involved in the lake
and river and greatly increased our knowledge of the
workings of the system and environs. We are also in a
better position to further develop the contribution our
people and operations can offer in these local communities.

Similarly, we are using the knowledge gained from our
geothermal activities at the Rotokawa and Mokai fields 
to further expand use of this fuel source for generation.
We believe there is significant untapped potential in the
region for generation growth.

The expertise developed in working with the Tauhara
North No. 2 and Tuaropaki Trusts in these ventures 
was pivotal in Mighty River Power developing a third
geothermal partnership with Putauaki Trust to explore
and develop the field near Kawerau. Early indications 
are that over time there may be up to 100 MW available
from this area.

Our third main fuel source is natural gas, utilised at the
Southdown Co-generation plant. The Southdown plant 
has exceptional flexibility and is ideally located within 
New Zealand’s largest load centre and consequently
benefits from favourable transmission and energy pricing. 
In addition, the plant has secure gas transmission 
access until 2011. We believe the combination of these
characteristics will allow us to continue to access gas 
on favourable terms despite the forecast rundown of the
Maui gas field in 2007. 

Finally, we continue to produce electricity through the 
use of methane gas recovered from landfills. This prevents
the release of this environmentally damaging gas into the
atmosphere producing a win-win situation for the Company,
the consumer and the environment. 
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Delivering Potential: Our challenge
is to release the best value for all 
New Zealanders – making the
income we need whilst being 
responsible to our river partners.
If we lean too much in one direction, the balance could shift in favour of one, away from
another. Our people know that. They have the expertise and discipline to make those calls.
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Generation
In the first half of the financial year, hydro production
levels were the highest the Company has achieved since
its formation. The increased production was driven by
more normal hydrological inflows, but occurred at a time
when wholesale prices were lower than expected.

The second half of the year saw a significant reversal with
inflows in the autumn period being the worst recorded.
This resulted in production being constrained to minimum
levels for a period which coincided with very high
wholesale prices. 

The effect of the two distinct inflow periods is evident in our
hydro production and financial results. Hydro generation for
the year was 3,857 GWh, 8% less than the historic mean
level of 4,200 GWh. Operating Surplus before Interest and 

Taxation in the half year period to 31 December 2002 was
$79.4 million and $40.1 million in the second half of the year. 

Our focus in the past year has been on improving the
balance in our generation portfolio to enable us to better
manage periods of low inflows into the hydro system.

That was the main reason behind our decision to first exit
the onerous Southdown Power Sale Agreement and then
purchase NGC’s 50% in the Southdown plant. By owning
and operating the plant, we have achieved greater flexibility
in the ongoing operation and development of the site.

We have had a successful first year operating the plant
with total output of 823 GWh. The plant performed
extremely well during the driest periods of autumn and
now makes a significant contribution to balancing our
hydrology risk.

Mighty River Power works in partnership

with several iwi in the management and

operation of geothermal resources in the

North Island. 

One of these joint ventures is the

Rotokawa Power Station which

currently generates 32 MW from the

Rotokawa Geothermal Field near Taupo

and is managed in conjunction with the

Tauhara North No. 2 Trust.  

Tauhara North No.2 Trust Chairman

Phillip Sullivan says the Trust values

its relationship with Mighty River

Power as an open, transparent

partnership where information is given

freely and honestly.

“We were pleased when Mighty River

Power first became involved with our

operations in 1999, as our past

dealings with people within the

Company, meant we trusted our

opinions would be heard. 

“Looking after the surrounding
environment of these natural resources
has always been a priority for the Trust
and the basis of any relationship iwi has
with the land is one of mutual respect.
We value our resources because they
are not for our use alone, they are also
for the use of future generations.

“We are kaitiakitangi – guardians of the
land, its resources and the life force
that thrives on that land. It’s not about
ownership, it’s about a responsibility to
use that land in a sustainable manner.” 

Mr Sullivan says as a result, the
business relationship between Mighty
River Power and Tauhara is long-term. 

“It’s very much focused on the future
and how we want to manage these

resources so that they are not exploited
by our generation of people. 

“Our discussions on resource capacity
are based on finding satisfactory
outcomes for both parties that are 
both commercially viable and
environmentally sustainable. 

“The first step toward effectively
managing incremental geothermal
development is to understand the
behaviour of these reservoirs,” says
Mighty River Power Chief Executive
Doug Heffernan. 

“The knowledge we have gained
through this project will continue 
to help us to plan for the long-term,
staged development of the field, which
has an estimated total capacity in
excess of 200MW.”

“It’s very much focused on the future and how we want to manage 
these resources so that they are not exploited by our generation 
of people.” PHILLIP SULLIVAN

Rotokawa Case Study



The fact there is further room for expansion at the site
provided additional support for the purchase of Southdown.
Our decision to investigate the expansion options has been
reinforced by recent concerns about the ability nationally
to meet growing demand.

Government’s decision to establish an Electricity
Commission with a mandate to govern the industry and
contract for dry year reserve has raised the prospects of
recommissioning of Marsden B plant. The 250MW hydro-
firming plant was mothballed when the Maui gas field was
developed in 1979. Engineering reports show the plant to
be in better than expected condition, with the total cost to
recommission the plant expected to be $90 million to $100
million. We are working towards obtaining the appropriate
consents for recommissioning the plant and if they are
obtained, the plant could be available for winter 2005. 

A 20% expansion was completed at Rotokawa in the first
half of the year. As the financial year closed, we joined the
Tuaropaki Power Company in plans to add another 39MW
to the 55MW capacity at Mokai. We are now a 25% equity
partner in the Tuaropaki Power Company. This is a change
to our previous relationship which was limited to an off-
take and management agreement.

We see the continued expansion of our geothermal portfolio
as a logical area of development for the business. The
Government’s decision to give more weighting to renewable
energy sources in Resource Consent considerations should
expedite expansion in this area of generation.

Mighty River Power’s role as a provider of energy for the
use of residents and commercial operations in the upper
North Island is vital, as is our role in the national economy.
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Plant Name Type MW

Karapiro Hydro 96

Arapuni Hydro 197

Waipapa Hydro 58

Maraetai I Hydro 180

Maraetai II Hydro 180

Ohakuri Hydro 104

Atiamuri Hydro 84

Whakamaru Hydro 100

Aratiatia Hydro 84

Rotokawa Geothermal 32

Mokai 1 Geothermal 55

Southdown Co-generation 122

Greenmount/ Rosedale/Silverstream2 Methane 11

Type 2003 GWh MW

Hydro 3857 1083

Geothermal2 210 87

Co-generation1 823 122

Methane2 62 11

Total 4952 1303
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Generation Assets

Generation Capacity by Generation Type

1 Mighty River Power acquired full ownership of Southdown from December 2002
2 Mighty River Power does not have full ownership of these assets 

1 25% equity share
2 Mighty River Power does not have full ownership of these assets

Historic Mean Level



Market Potential: Businesses need 
cost certainty to compete successfully. 

We want our customers to rely on us. That’s why we do all we can to help our
customers predict their energy costs through tools such as contracts and purchase
options. Our philosophy is centred on working together - with nature, and with
companies – to achieve outcomes that everyone can live with. 
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Retail
Our retail arm, Mercury Energy, performed well, achieving
growth during a year marked with uncertainty of wholesale
prices.

Our ongoing investment in superior service delivery
platforms and product development has allowed us to
deliver better value to customers, both in the residential
and commercial markets and to vigorously compete on
service. This investment has been rewarded with high
customer retention rates.

In the 1999-2001 period there were valid concerns about
the industry’s switching processes and the impact on retail
competition. Mercury Energy’s focus on addressing these
concerns has resulted in all service delivery targets being
either met or exceeded. Customer contacts reduced to a
rate of 2.5 per customer per year by year end. This result
was better than our target of 2.6 contacts and was a
significant improvement on past years. 100% of customer
switches were completed within the industry standards,
exceeding our target of 99.5%.  

Over the past year more than 3.4 million bills were sent to
our customers. Formal customer complaints over the same
period were 671. The reduction in customer complaints over
the past year on both the total and monthly basis was

significant and represented only 0.02% of all bills issued. We
continue to strive to further reduce customer complaints. 

Our customer-focused services, monthly meter reading;
the provision of one bill for gas and electricity (Mercury
Duo); prompt payment discounts and discounts for
electronic payment for retail customers, has proven 
very attractive to existing and prospective customers,
particularly those in the greater Auckland market and
despite the efforts of a number of competitors.

We are the leading brand in the upper North Island with
an estimated market share of 35%. Our underlying organic
growth has been strengthened by the acquisition in June
2003 of Trustpower’s 8,000 customers in Northland,
Auckland and Waikato.

The decision to enter the residential gas retailing business
late last year has been a success, with existing and new
Mercury Energy customers looking for the convenience 
of having both gas and electricity on the one bill, branded
as Mercury Duo.

Past significant investment in highly functional systems
and strong customer relationships allowed Mercury Energy
to move quickly in response to the nationwide Target 
10% energy conservation campaign. This resulted in the 
re-launch of the successful “Beat Your Bill” initiative. 

Mercury Energy Customer Satisfaction Extremely/Moderately  Satisfied Neutral/Extremely Dissatisfied
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Mercury Energy Mass Market Coverage

Incumbency (Vector)

New coverage since formation

Waikato River and Lake Taupo
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Starship Children’s Hospital Case Study
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Mercury was again the only retailer to reward customers
directly and immediately for their contribution to the
national power saving campaign and won the endorsement
of the Winter Power Taskforce. In June 2003 and July 2003
$4.3 million was credited to customers’ bills as a result of
household and business power saving efforts.

Risk management products launched last year paid off 
for our commercial customers who opted for hedge

contracts, which meant they were largely insulated 
from the worst of the wholesale price spikes. The market
demand for flexible energy packages means we will
continue to develop our portfolio of commercial products
to enable both commercial customers and our retailing
business to jointly manage wholesale electricity price risk.

Upward pressure on wholesale prices led to the regrettable
but necessary announcement in July 2003 of a 9% increase
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Mercury Energy’s relationship with
Starship Children’s Hospital was further
enhanced this year when Mercury
became a Five Star Sponsor, one of a
group of five corporate sponsors, which
support  Starship at the highest level.

Mercury received an overwhelming
customer response for its campaign 
to pledge support for Starship’s Heart
Unit via monthly power bills. More than
$200,000 was raised from customer
contributions in just three months.

Mercury Energy General Manager John
Foote says the partnership helps fulfil
Mercury’s commitment to give back 
to the communities it operates in. 

“Mercury is proud of its relationship
with Starship and the generosity of our
customers’ donations indicates their
support of this sponsorship initiative.

“Since the beginning of our sponsorship

relationship in 2000, Mercury Energy

has been a dedicated and passionate

supporter of the Starship Children’s

Hospital,” says Starship Foundation

Chairman Bryan Mogridge. 

He says based on the success of the

relationship over the past few years,

the hospital sees Starship and 

Mercury having an extremely close 

and committed future. 

“Our motto at the Starship Foundation

is to ‘make the impossible possible for

children’s health’, which we couldn’t 

do without the support of our partners.

Mercury staff and customers seem to

have taken Starship into their hearts

and this is evident in the support we

are receiving. This can only make for 

a strong long-term relationship, which

has direct benefits to the health of 

the children of New Zealand. We are

extremely grateful for this.” 

“Our motto at the Starship 
Foundation is to make 
the impossible possible 
for children’s health” 

BRYAN MOGRIDGE
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Mercury Energy has developed a 

range of innovative risk management

tools fused with communication

technology to meet the day-to-day

needs of New Zealand’s largest and

mid sized corporations, including 

retail powerhouse, The Warehouse.

In a period of wholesale power price

uncertainty, risk management has been

a key driver for Wayne Inger, Energy

Manager for The Warehouse.

“At The Warehouse, our business

strategy is focused on growth. We are

continually building new stores and

growing our overall square footage. 

As a result, our electricity load is 

ever-increasing, which means prudent

energy management is critical for 

the sustainability of our business,” 

says Wayne.

“Mercury is truly leading the market
when it comes to product innovation. Its
Electricity Hedge product, for example,
is something few other retailers offer.
The ability to hedge against the spot
market is an option that is usually only
available to the country’s largest
electricity users. But Mercury has
packaged their Electricity Hedge in an
innovative way that makes this option
available to businesses like ours.

“Another innovative product we’ve
found to be valuable is Mercury’s Price
Messenger service.  This service sends
me an automatic email when the spot
price for electricity exceeds a trigger
price that I set.  When I receive an
alert, this allows me to immediately
make critical decisions across the
business to decrease our electricity
load and manage costs.

“It is important that The Warehouse
doesn’t have ‘all its eggs in one
basket’, we need to manage risk by
utilising a variety of electricity products
across the business.  One of the
advantages of being with Mercury
Energy is that it realises one size
doesn’t fit all.  Mercury has provided
The Warehouse with a choice of
products, which allows me to choose
the best fit for the business.

“I appreciate Mercury’s up-front
approach, its account managers are
friendly, helpful and full of really good
ideas.  When it comes right down to it,
Mercury provides The Warehouse with
the information and innovative options 
I need to make the right decisions for
the business.”

The Warehouse Case Study

on total bills for residential customers. This increase 
will be applied after the worst of the winter to avoid 
the time when customers bills are usually highest. 

We are continuing to focus on developing new service and
sales channels, including online initiatives, to meet our
brand promise of making it easy for our customers to
manage their energy needs.

A notable highlight was recently becoming the first and
only New Zealand energy retailer to achieve the Platinum
Enviro-Mark standard. This is an international standard 
of evaluation for environmental performance audited by
Landcare Research. This accreditation, presented in 
June 2003, recognises our commitment to continuous
improvement in environmental practices. 

Mercury Energy firmly believes in positive partnerships
with the communities that support us and has developed
strong relationships with partners such as the Starship
Foundation and Mercury also supports initiatives such 
as Christmas in the Park and Carols by Candlelight.

Metering
Metrix, Mighty River Power’s metering business, achieved
a favourable performance with consistent improvement 
in business operations and organic growth in meter
installations. This was complemented by the acquisition 
of 15,200 meter installations in the Greater Auckland 
area from Trustpower in June 2003, bringing the total
installations to 300,000 and establishing a good foundation 
for future growth. Meter reading services for electricity
retailers including Mercury Energy, showed consistent
improvement on previous years, with new records in
achieving regular meter readings.

“... we need to manage risk by utilising  
a variety of electricity products ...”   WAYNE INGER



Relationship Potential: We look to
establish and grow our relationships
with the community through our
retail brand, Mercury Energy.
The brand is our touchpoint with the public – through the call centre, and
the correspondence we send our customers. The relationship is important
for another reason. It serves to remind all of us that we are working for
New Zealanders just like ourselves.
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A significant event for the Company during the past year was the development of our second sustainability report: 
‘The Single Bottom Line: Mighty River Power and Sustainability’. The report outlines our ongoing commitment to
sustainability principles and our focus on a “single bottom line” that reflects long term sustainable value in
implementing these principles within our business.

In our sustainability update we identified six areas in which to progress our work on sustainability. The journey towards
sustainability is a long one and we have made good progress in some areas and in others external events and decisions
have overtaken us. We will continue to report on these areas and expect to provide additional information on the
environment in which our business operates next year.

1. The University of The River is a broad vision of Mighty River Power, centred on the river and
encompassing the knowledge we have gained in seeking resource consents. Central to this are the strong
relationships and formal understandings with Ngati Tahu, Ngati Whaoa, Ngati Raukawa, Ngati
Tuwharetoa and Tainui-Waikato, all of whom have an affinity with the river system, its preservation and
enhancement. Our first step towards this vision has been cemented in the establishment of an Ecological
Trust that will use the detailed information gathered during the extensive resource consent process to
assess the future impacts of operations on the Waikato River and to enhance restoration projects. 

Funding for the establishment of the trust has been provided by Mighty River Power, but the Trust itself
is independent from Mighty River Power. The Trust has been established following discussions and
agreement between ourselves and representatives of the Tongariro Taupo, Bay of Plenty and Waikato
Conservancies of the Department of Conservation; the Auckland, Waikato and Eastern Regions of Fish
& Game NZ, the Taupo, South Waikato and Waikato branches of the Royal Forest and Bird Protection
Society and the Advisory Committee for Regional Environment (ACRE), as part of the consultation
associated with the renewal of our resource consents for the Waikato Hydro System.

2. Optimising our Waikato system is the end goal of our resource consents application to preserve and
enhance flexibility of our operations and we await the outcome of the hearings. Our goal is to ensure
the efficient use of the water in the system, without any significant impact on the river. Efficient use of
this natural resource is consistent with sustaining the river, the Company, the communities we work in
and the New Zealand economy. Further initiatives will be considered once the Resource Consents
process is completed.

In 2003, Mighty River Power was recognised by the Institute of Professional Engineers receiving the
Waikato Engineering Sustainable Environment Award for enhancements to the performance and
heritage value of the Arapuni Power Station.

3. Pursuing new sustainable development is at the heart of our plans for expansion in geothermal
generation. Geothermal energy is a readily available renewable resource to which we apply the latest
re-injection technology to preserve the life of the field. We are actively working with three Maori Trusts;
Tauhara North No. 2, Tuaropaki and Putauaki in developing these interests and continue to pursue
other relationships to sustainably harness geothermal resources for the benefit of the nation. In the
past year we have undertaken or committed to investments that will increase geothermal output by

Sustainability Update
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almost 50 MW. We anticipate the reservoir contained within Putauaki Trust land will initially support 
up to 100 MW of plant.  We expect to make further announcements on other geothermal developments
over the coming year.

4. Adopting Sustainable Business Systems is underway with our decision to apply the Enviro-Mark
standard to our retail operations. The Enviro-Mark standard will be progressively expanded across 
the rest of our business over the coming year. In addition, we also publish on our website details of 
the quantity and reasons for hydro spills from our plants. A total of 10.17 GWh was spilt in the last
financial year, 95.5% due to the mandatory tourism spills at Aratiatia. During autumn 2003 we sought
permission to reduce the quantity of spill at Aratiatia to conserve water. We received widespread
support during our public consultation process and Environment Waikato agreed to the spill being
reduced by 80%. We returned to normal spill levels five weeks later.

In addition, the Company is committed to public safety and asset protection and has adopted a Dam
Safety Assurance Programme which is consistent with legislation and international best practice. 
The key elements of this programme are:

Surveillance
• Installation and ongoing maintenance of monitoring equipment 
• Surveillance monitoring 
• Interpretation, analysis and monthly reporting of monitoring data 
• Annual dam deformation monitoring 
• Annual dam safety review
Independent Safety Review
• Five yearly, focused on failure modes effects and analysis. Targets respective major safety aspects
Emergency Preparedness Planning
• Regular programme review 
• Testing of emergency action plans and procedures
Training and Public Consultation
• Deficiency verification and resolution
• Evaluation of hazards, technological advances, assessment and remediation of identified deficiencies.

Safety Conditions of Hydraulic Structures 
As at 30 June 2003

Structure Current Safety Condition

Taupo Control Gates Satisfactory

Aratiatia Satisfactory

Ohakuri Satisfactory

Atiamuri Satisfactory

Whakamaru Satisfactory

Structure Current Safety Condition

Maraetai Satisfactory

Waipapa Satisfactory

Arapuni Satisfactory

Karapiro Satisfactory
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Mighty River Power’s environmental
team works closely with regional and
district councils throughout the North
Island to develop sustainable business
partnerships. Its positive attitude 
and co-operative work ethic has
enabled Mighty River Power to build
strong partnerships with Local
Government and contribute positively
to the statutory planning process,
which has won the acknowledgement
of council partners.

During 2002, Mighty River Power 
made a submission to the Proposed
Regional Coastal Plan for Northland.
Decisions on the plan did not address 
a number of Mighty River Power’s
concerns, which led to the Company
lodging references on these points.
Potentially this could have meant 
a lengthy hearing process in the
Environment Court.

In May this year, Mighty River Power
and Northland Regional Council met
to discuss the points of difference 

with the hope of avoiding court
proceedings. The best outcome
prevailed with both parties effectively
reaching resolution on all points
within 90 minutes. 

Glenn Mortimer, Northland Regional
Council Planning and Policy Manager,
says the attitude of Mighty River
Power’s people allowed the negotiation
process to go so smoothly.

“Mighty River Power is a major
stakeholder in our region, and it’s
important to the Council that we have
environmental standards that are fair
and reasonable and still allow the
Company to operate and grow its
business here. During the appeal
process, we met with Mighty River
Power to negotiate through their points
of difference. Because Mighty River
Power’s people came with a co-
operative attitude, we were able to
resolve each issue quickly and came 
to a resolution that satisfied everyone,”
says Glenn.

Northland Regional Council 
Case Study

Mighty River Power is a
major stakeholder in our
region, and it’s important 
to the Council that we have
environmental standards
that are fair and reasonable
and still allow the Company
to operate and grow its
business here.”

GLENN MORTIMER

“

5. Building an Industry Vision for Future Energy Scenarios is encompassed in the proposed 
New Zealand Business Council for Sustainable Development project, “A Sustainable Energy Future”. 
Mighty River Power has been assisting in developing the scope and process for this project. It is
hoped that the proposed Electricity Commission, mandated to ensure security of supply, may make
use of this study to assist its own long-term forecasting, hopefully in consultation with affected parties.

6. Measuring the Value Footprint of our business is a project that will attempt to measure the
economic, environmental and social value created by Mighty River Power. This is potentially a ground
breaking piece of work for an electricity company in New Zealand and we are working carefully to
clearly define the scope of this study. We expect to report on this next year.



MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3 29

Environment
Ecological Trust
National Wetland Trust
Maugatautari Ecological Island Trust
Lower Waikato Enhancement Society
Festival of the Environment

Sports & Recreation
New Zealand Rowing Academy

Arts
Mighty River Power Photographic Competition
Lake Taupo Arts Awards

Economic
B2H – Business to Hamilton

Community
Starship Foundation
Christmas Concerts 
Books In Schools
Project K
Lighting Auckland Landmarks

Social Support
Auckland City Mission
The Gifted Kids Programme
Brain Injury Trust
Salvation Army
Barnados

Auckland University Canoe Club
Ballistics
Different Strokes Whitewater Kayaking Network
Fish and Game NZ
Hamilton City Council
Huka Falls Kayak Club
Hutt Valley Canoe Club
Ironman NZ
James Cook High School
Karapiro Rowing Inc
Lake Whakamaru Christian Camp
Manukau Canoe and Adventure Club
Massey University Alpine Club
Nga Kaihoe o Aotearoa
Ngaruawahia Regatta Committee
National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research
NZ Freestyle Kayak Committee
NZ Tournament Waterski Association
NZGP Hydroplane Drivers Club
Power boating 
Rollo's Marine Bridge to Bridge
South Waikato District Council
Taupo Kayak School
Taupo Nui-A-Tia College
TMS Sport Promotions
Waikato Region NZ Barefoot Waterski Club
Waikato Tournament Waterski Association
Waipa Delta
Whakamaru Dam Dusters
Whitewater Slalom NZ

Some of our key Sponsorship Activities Water Releases for Recreational Use





Future Potential:
Our timeframes are the nanosecond
and the century simultaneously.
We must deliver energy on demand to thousands of
customers. But we must also work with the forces of nature
across 100 year spans. Ultimately, there is just a single
bottom line: the profitable, sustainable, responsible
generation and retailing of energy for New Zealanders, 
now and into the future.
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Our Statement of Corporate Intent sets out financial and non-financial performance targets for the Group. Our objective
is to increase shareholder value at a rate not less than the market value increase of comparable private sector
companies. The financial performance target and actual results for 2003 are:

Financial Performance Targets 2003 Actual 2003 Target Achieved/Not Achieved

Return on average Shareholders’ Equity (%) 10.0* 8.3 Achieved

Total Equity to Total Assets (%) 57.3 54.2 Achieved

Free Funds from Operations/Interest Expense (times) 4.01 3.87 Achieved

* Adjusted to exclude non-recurring items

The Group seeks to at least equal the following non-financial performance targets:

Non-financial Performance Targets 2003 Actual 2003 Target Achieved/Not Achieved

Safety – Frequency1 1.50 < 1.20 Not Achieved

Safety – Severity2 0.24 < 0.25 Achieved

Environmental Performance (%)3 100 100 Achieved

Customer Switching to Industry Standards (%)4 100 >99.5 Achieved

Customer Contacts5 2.5 < 2.6 Achieved

Plant Availability (%)6 92.8 >92 Achieved

Forced Outage Rate (%)7 0.3 < 2.0 Achieved

Notes:

1. Lost time accidents per 100,000 hours of time worked

2. Hours lost per 1,000 hours worked

3. No enforcements by regulatory authorities arising from breach of environmental controls and standards

4. MARIA Schedule 12 requirements. Percentage of switch notifications achieved within 48 hours.

5. Contacts/Customer/Year

6. Percentage of time hydro generation plant is available for use.

7. Percentage of time hydro generation plant is unavailable due to unplanned outages.

Financial and Commercial Performance Targets
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and financial statements of 
Mighty River Power Limited for the year ended 30 June 2003.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements comply with generally
accepted accounting practice and give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Mighty River Power Limited and the group as at 30 June 2003 and of the financial performance 
and cashflows for the year ended at the same date.

The directors consider that the financial statements of the Company and the Group have been
prepared using appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable
judgements and estimates, and that all relevant financial reporting and accounting standards have
been followed.

The directors believe that proper accounting records have been kept which enable, with reasonable
accuracy, the determination of the financial position of the Company and the Group and that the
financial statements comply with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

The directors consider they have taken adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the Company and
the Group to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

After consultation with the Company’s shareholders, the directors have resolved not to pay a dividend
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2003.

The Audit Office is required to be the Company’s auditor and it has appointed Mr G A Fulton of Ernst 
& Young to undertake the audit on its behalf.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement
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The Board 

Rob Challinor, chairman, served as 
a director of Electricity Corporation 
of New Zealand from 1992 to 1998. 
He has been chairman of the Mighty
River Power board since the Company
commenced business in April 1999. 
He has been a partner in an
international accounting firm and has
worked as a Corporate Finance Advisor.

Mr Challinor is currently a partner 
and director of investment bankers
Northington Partners. He is a director
of The Warehouse Group, Ports of
Auckland and international strategy
consultancy L.E.K. Consulting’s
Australasian Advisory Board. He is 
also chairman of human resource
consultancy Sheffield and a Fellow 
of the Institute of Directors.

Carole Durbin is deputy chair of the
board and chair of the audit committee  
and has held both positions since the
Company began trading in April 1999.
She spent nine years on the board of
Transpower, the last few years of that
time as its deputy chair.  She has in-
depth experience and understanding of
the industry across transmission,
generation and distribution.

She is a partner of law firm Simpson
Grierson.  In addition to providing legal
advice to clients, she acts as a
mediator and arbitrator in commercial
disputes.  She is an advanced panel
member of LEADR and a Fellow of the
Arbitrators’ and Mediators’ Institute
and is one of the MARIA panel of
arbitrators.  She is a Fellow of the
Institute of Directors and a
Commissioner on the board of the
Earthquake Commission. 

Caroline Ball was appointed a director
of Mighty River Power in November
2002. She has extensive experience in
New Zealand’s energy industry having
been chief executive for Fitzroy Worley,
and general manager transmission at
Natural Gas Corporation.  Ms Ball is
managing director of Strategic
Developments, a consulting firm
specialising in business growth issues
and investments. She is deputy chair of
the Western Institute of Technology at
Taranaki and a member of the Taranaki
District Health Board Hospital Advisory
Committee.

Ian Fraser has a comprehensive
background in engineering and
engineering management, and is a
director of Beca Group, the largest New
Zealand owned consulting engineering
company.  Mr Fraser also manages the
southern region of Beca Group and is a
member of the Registered Construction
Managers Board for the New Zealand

From left: David McConnell, Rob Challinor (Chairman), Sandy (Samford) Maier, Carole Durbin (Deputy Chair), 
Ian Fraser, Tania Simpson, Caroline Ball, Wayne Walden.
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Institute of Building. He is a past
president of the Association of
Consulting Engineers of New Zealand.
Mr Fraser was a director of Mighty
River Power when it began operations
in April 1999.

Sandy (Samford) Maier has worked in
international commercial and
investment banking with
Citicorp/Citibank for 15 years in various
management positions in the
Caribbean, South America and
Australasia.  He has lived and worked
in New Zealand since 1986, serving on
the board of Bank of New Zealand and
as the statutory manager of DFC New
Zealand, for which he received a 1990
Commemoration Medal for services to
New Zealand. For the past 10 years he
has had his own international
management consulting firm
specialising in strategic financial and
human resource issues.  He has served
as chief executive and board member
of a number of companies, and has

been a director of Mighty River Power
since April 2002.

David McConnell’s commercial
background is in electrical engineering
and business development.

He is currently managing director of
McConnell International, which
includes related companies McConnell
International Property, Steelpipe NZ,
Hawkins Construction, HGM Group, and
Bisleys Environmental.  He is a trustee
of Committee for Auckland, which
focuses on promoting the business
competitiveness of Auckland City. Mr
McConnell has been on the board of
Mighty River Power since its
establishment in April 1999.

Tania Simpson was appointed as a
director of Mighty River Power in
November 2001 and is the founding
director of Maori policy adviser, Kowhai
Consulting.  She is of Ngati Maniapoto
and Ngati Manu descent and lives in
the Maniapoto district.  She has

previously held management positions
in Housing Corporation, Ministry of
Maori Development and Office of Treaty
Settlements and has worked on social
policy, economic development and
Treaty-related matters.  Tania Simpson
is a member of the Medical Laboratory
Technologists Board and a Trustee of
Te Kura Kaupapa Maori O Oparure. 

Wayne Walden was appointed a
director of Mighty River Power in June
2001 and had more than 30 years
experience in New Zealand’s retail and
wholesale sectors.  Most recently, he
was managing director of Farmers
Deka.  He is the deputy chairman of
Meat New Zealand and the chairman of
Tranz Rail.  Mr Walden is also founding
chairman of Project K, established
seven years ago to support youth
development programmes for at-risk
teenagers.
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The board of directors is responsible for the corporate
governance of the Company.  Corporate governance
means the direction and control of the business by the
directors and the accountability of directors to
shareholders and others for the performance of the
Company and its compliance with laws and standards
applicable to it. This summary sets out the corporate
governance policies, practices and processes followed 
by the board throughout the year.

Role of the Board
The board is responsible for the overall direction of the
Mighty River Power group’s business and other activities
on behalf of the shareholding ministers.

The principal objective of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the ‘group’) is to operate as a successful
business and to be:

(a) as profitable and efficient as comparable businesses
that are not owned by the Crown;

(b) a good employer i.e. an employer operating personnel
policies which contain provisions generally accepted as
necessary for the fair and equitable treatment of
employees in all aspects of their employment;

(c) an organisation that exhibits an informed sense of
social responsibility by having regard to the interests
of the communities in which the group operates and by
supporting these when able to do so;

(d) a leader in achieving the objectives of sustainable
development for the communities in which the group
operates through world’s best management of hydro
and geothermal resources.

The board establishes the overall policy framework within
which the business of the group is conducted and it
monitors management’s performance within this context.
The board has delegated day-to-day leadership and
management of the Company to the chief executive.

In discharging its duties, the board requires management
to prepare a business plan of the current year and the
ensuing two years and an annual budget which sets out
the Company’s capital and operational requirements
within the plan.

The board monitors actual financial results compared to
planned and forecast figures on a monthly basis.

The board’s responsibilities also include identifying and
controlling the group’s business risks, the integrity of
management information systems and reporting to
shareholding ministers.

Major policies which are subject to the board’s approval
and review include capital investment, treasury, electricity
trading and risk management, accounting and financial,
insurance and delegated authority limits.

The board recognises the importance of full compliance
with laws controlling environmental activities, the
management of natural resources, health and safety in
employment and working conditions within buildings. The
board monitors the Company’s compliance with relevant
statutes through regular reports from management.

Board Membership
The board comprises eight non-executive directors and all
appointments to the board are made by the shareholding
ministers in accordance with Section 36 (1) (a) (i) of the
Companies Act 1993.

The Company’s constitution requires that its directors be
appointed to the board for a fixed term not exceeding three
years. Further details about each director are set out on
page 73 of this report.

To assist directors to carry out their duties, the board has
two standing committees, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.  Other ad hoc committees may
be formed from time to time.

Board and Committee Meetings
The full board has met 11 times during the year plus two
strategic planning and review sessions. The board’s
annual programme is set by the chairman in conjunction
with the chief executive.  Directors receive papers for
consideration and regular management reports in advance
of meetings.  Executives are regularly involved in board
discussions and directors have other opportunities,
including visits to operations, to make contact with a wider
group of employees.  In consultation with the chairman or
chief executive, directors are able to access information
directly from management.  

Corporate Governance



For the year ended 30 June 2003, attendance at board
meetings was as follows:

Rob Challinor 11

Carole Durbin 9

Caroline Ball (from 27 November 2002) 7

Ian Fraser 11

Sandy Maier 11

David McConnell 11

Tania Simpson 11

Wayne Walden 10

Hilary Webber (until 30 November 2002) 5

Board Committees
Audit Committee
The function of the audit committee is to assist the board
of directors in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities with
regard to the establishment and continued effectiveness 
of the Company’s policies, practices, procedures and
systems of internal control.  The committee also reviews
the performance of the internal and external auditors.
The audit committee comprises Carole Durbin as chair,
Ian Fraser, Tania Simpson, and Caroline Ball, with Rob
Challinor as ex officio member. It has met four times
during the reporting period.

All directors are invited to attend its meetings and are
provided with copies of meeting minutes and reports
received by the committee.

Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee’s primary role is to 
consider detailed recommendations and policies
concerning remuneration for the group’s employees
including the chief executive.  The remuneration
committee members are Sandy Maier as chairman, 
David McConnell and Wayne Walden with Rob Challinor as
ex officio member. The committee met four times during
the reporting period.

Review of Auditor Independence 
During the year the board reviewed the Company’s
relationship with the auditor of the financial statements, 
G A Fulton of Ernst & Young.  The board’s review
confirmed the present audit arrangements and noted that
there was no need for change to them. The board has a
policy on auditor independence which places responsibility
for managing the relationship with the audit committee,
and which includes reviewing the scope of services
provided to the group by G A Fulton and Ernst & Young.

Independent Advice
Where the board considers it appropriate to do so,
directors can request independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense to assist them to carry out their
duties as directors. No such request for advice has been
made during the reporting period.

Securities Trading 
The Company has adopted a formal policy and procedure
governing the trading by directors and senior management
in securities issued to the public by the Company. This 
is designed to ensure that such trading is transparent,
ethical, and lawful, and, in particular, that it does not
involve the use of non-public information.

Directors and senior management must notify the
Company of all holdings of securities issued to the public
by the company and obtain prior approval for all trading 
in such securities.

Community Responsibility and 
Charitable and Political Donations
The Company sponsors events and organisations
conferring a community benefit.  In addition the Company
makes charitable donations from time to time. These
initiatives are managed according to an agreed policy 
and are reported to the board.  

The Company has a policy of not making donations to
political parties.
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Executive Management

Doug Heffernan  Chief Executive
Doug was appointed Chief Executive 
in December 1998. Previously, he was
Chief Executive of Power New Zealand
Limited, from 1991 to 1997, leading 
it through corporatisation, merger 
and stock exchange listing.  He has
also assisted governments on policy
development, provided strategic 
advice to the electricity industry and
performed a number of governance
roles within the sector. His senior
management responsibility has
extended across all parts of the
electricity value chain.

Colleen Cann
Organisation Development Manager
Colleen joined the company early in
1999 to assist in its formation. She 
has extensive experience in change
management in both public and private
sectors in the United Kingdom and New
Zealand. During the 1990s, Colleen led
the organisation change processes for
the largest privatised electricity
distribution company.

Tim Densem
General Manager Generation Assets
Tim joined Mighty River Power
following senior managerial roles 
in New Zealand and Australia.  
In Australia, he had responsibility 
for developing and implementing
strategies for a $2 billion gas and
electricity infrastructure business
through merger and market
deregulation to achieve substantial
improvements in performance. 
His current role is to ensure the
sustainable, safe, efficient and reliable
operation of the company’s hydro,
geothermal, co-generation and
methane recovery plants.

John Foote
General Manager Retail
John is responsible for retail
operations which supply nearly 
283,000 customers. He has over 
10 years’ experience in general
management roles in the electricity
sector, and previously held the position
of Chief Operations Manager with

Power New Zealand Limited. Prior 
to joining the electricity industry, 
John was involved in the construction
industry, which included significant
international experience.

Tony Gray
Chief Financial Officer 
Tony joined Mighty River Power in
September 1999 following previous
roles at Tourism Holdings Limited 
and as Chief Financial Officer at
Television New Zealand. He was 
closely involved in TVNZ’s business
development in the 1990s including 
the investments in SKY Network
Television, Clear Communications,
Teamtalk and Asia Business News 
(now CNBC). He has held directorships
in all of these companies. His
background provides an extensive 
mix of experience in both the private
and state-owned enterprise sectors.

From left: Colleen Cann, William Meek, David Reeve, Tony Gray, Doug Heffernan (Chief Executive),
Stuart Lush, Tim Densem, Neil Williams, James Moulder, John Foote.



MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3 39

Stuart Lush 
General Manager Generation
Development
Stuart is responsible for the
development of new generation
opportunities with a focus on our
strategic position in the use of
sustainable and renewable energy
resources. Stuart has extensive
experience in the electricity and
construction industries, particularly in
relation to the commercial realisation
of development opportunities.

James Moulder
General Manager Trading
James’ role is to optimise the company’s
generation portfolio within the wholesale
market, consistent with defined risk
management policies. James joined
Mighty River Power following
experience in financial markets and
strategic and financial consulting work
in the Australian energy sector.  He
brings extensive business experience
in managing risk, commodity trading
and financial management, both in 
New Zealand and Australia.

William Meek
Enterprise Risk Strategist
William is responsible for overseeing
the integrated risk positions of the
company with a particular focus on
electricity and risk tolerance
parameters. This includes developing
value - enhancing strategies within the
company’s financial capability. He has
10 years experience in the New
Zealand electricity industry including
electricity wholesale markets, price
forecasting, strategy and risk
management.  

David Reeve
General Manager Metrix
David has a broad range of experience
in the electricity industry, including
transmission and distribution, over 
a 20-year period. His roles have
included maximising the efficient and
commercial operation of the company’s
hydro generating system on the
Waikato River. David is responsible 
for extending the Metrix business 
with a focus on customers, R&D, 

new technologies, and leveraging
opportunities in a market where
consolidation is continuing to occur.

Neil Williams
General Manager External Affairs
Neil returned to Mighty River Power in
2003 following time spent in Singapore
and Thailand with Tractebel Electricity
and Gas International Limited. Neil
previously headed our trading area and
has over 10 years experience in the
New Zealand electricity industry across
retailing, distribution and trading. His
new responsibilities include identifying 
for the company and its stakeholders
opportunities emerging from policy
development. In his role he guides our
strategic industry policy, relationships
with central government, iwi and other
stakeholders. He is also responsible 
for public relations and media
communication.
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Report of the Auditor-General

To the readers of the financial statements of Mighty River Power Limited and Group for the year ended 30 June 2003.

We have audited the financial statements on pages 42 to 68. The financial statements provide information about the 
past financial performance and financial position of Mighty River Power Limited and Group as at 30 June 2003. 
This information is stated in accordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 47 to 50.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993 require the Board of Directors (the Board)
to prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand that give a
true and fair view of the financial position of Mighty River Power Limited and Group as at 30 June 2003 and the results 
of operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Auditor’s Responsibilities
Section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and Section 19(1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 require the Auditor-
General to audit the financial statements presented by the Board. It is the responsibility of the Auditor-General to
express an independent opinion on the financial statements and report that opinion to you.

The Auditor-General has appointed G A Fulton, of Ernst & Young, to undertake the audit.

Basis of Opinion
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.  It also includes assessing:

•    the significant estimates and judgements made by the Board in the preparation of the financial statements; and
•  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to Mighty River Power Limited and Group’s circumstances,

consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards published by the Auditor-General, which incorporate
the Auditing Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of New Zealand. We planned and performed our
audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatements,
whether caused by fraud or error.  In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Other than in our capacity as auditor acting on behalf of the Auditor-General, we have no relationship with or interests 
in Mighty River Power Limited or any of its subsidiaries.

Unqualified Opinion
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.
In our opinion:
• proper accounting records have been kept by Mighty River Power Limited and Group as far as appears from our

examination of those records; and
• the financial statements of Mighty River Power Limited and Group on pages 42 to 68:

- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
- give a true and fair view of:

- Mighty River Power Limited and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2003; and
- the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Our audit was completed on 20 August 2003 and our unqualified opinion is expressed as at that date.

G A Fulton, Ernst & Young
On behalf of the Auditor-General, Auckland, New Zealand
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Sales 798,286 767,758 710,383 721,761

Less transmission, line and metering charges (162,270) (182,153) (162,270) (182,153)

Interest income 2,784 3,157 12,869 10,601

Other revenue 7,446 6,346 5,819 6,395

Total Operating Revenue 2 646,246 595,108 566,801 556,604

Operating surplus before interest and non-recurring items 3 119,474 87,177 88,185 79,123

Interest income 2,784 3,157 12,869 10,601

Interest expense (29,867) (29,815) (29,874) (29,925)

Non-recurring items 4 34,217 6,772 12,438 (863)

Surplus Before Taxation 126,608 67,291 83,618 58,936

Taxation expense 5 (13,077) (20,208) (5,879) (19,469)

Net Surplus After Taxation 6 113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

The notes set out on pages 47 to 68 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30 June 2003
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Equity at Beginning of the Year 759,965 712,882 805,587 766,120

Net surplus after taxation 6 113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

Total Recognised Revenues and Expenses for the Year 113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

Final dividend paid for 2002 (11,800) 0 (11,800) 0

Equity at End of the Year 861,696 759,965 871,526 805,587

The notes set out on pages 47 to 68 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

Statement of Movements in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2003

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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Equity

Share capital 8 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561

Reserves 9 484,135 382,404 493,965 428,026

861,696 759,965 871,526 805,587

Non-current Liabilities

Energy contracts 56,002 133,843 56,002 133,766

Loans 10 434,771 209,402 434,771 164,000

490,773 343,245 490,773 297,766

Current Liabilities

Payables and accruals 11 79,197 85,940 69,372 75,468

Provisions 12 3,322 3,191 3,322 3,191

Deferred taxation 13 22,793 13,586 11,298 7,873

Energy contracts – current portion 10,064 22,063 10,064 22,063

Loans – current portion 10 36,000 252,657 36,000 249,220

151,376 377,437 130,056 357,815

Total Equity and Liabilities 1,503,845 1,480,647 1,492,355 1,461,168

The notes set out on pages 47 to 68 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2003

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,375,053 1,355,059 1,221,927 1,246,138

Investments in subsidiaries 15 0 0 37,959 37,959

Investments in associates 17 6,916 0 6,666 0

Other investments 17 0 7,119 0 7,119

Intangibles 18 0 8,712 0 0

Other non-current assets 19 14,438 3,487 11,261 3,000

1,396,407 1,374,377 1,277,813 1,294,216

Current Assets

Cash 4,882 3,275 4,170 588

Receivables and prepayments 20 95,091 99,410 195,104 163,312

Inventories 21 3,016 2,815 3,016 2,815

Taxation receivable 4,449 770 12,252 237

107,438 106,270 214,542 166,952

Total Assets 1,503,845 1,480,647 1,492,355 1,461,168

The notes set out on pages 47 to 68 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 30 June 2003

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors, who authorised the issue of the financial statements on 20 August 2003.

Chairman Deputy Chair

20 August 2003 20 August 2003
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash was provided from (applied to):

Receipts from customers 654,391 659,457 554,793 614,454

Interest received 2,416 4,829 2,298 4,647

Payments to suppliers and employees (531,193) (539,675) (511,040) (514,889)

Interest paid (29,983) (36,339) (19,755) (24,509)

Taxation paid (13,904) (10,400) (14,469) (10,400)

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 22 81,727 77,872 11,827 69,303

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash was provided from (applied to):

Sale of property, plant and equipment 850 820 850 820

Proceeds from investments 453 3,881 453 3,881

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (25,822) (21,097) (17,664) (14,260)

Purchase of other non-current assets (13,056) 0 (10,056) 0

Purchase of associate (250) 0 0 0

Purchase of subsidiary and joint venture 15 9,293 (300) 0 0

Net Cash Outflow from Investing Activities (28,532) (16,696) (26,417) (9,559)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash was provided from (applied to):

Loan advances 10 8,712 0 57,551 0

Loans repaid 0 (63,301) 0 (60,155)

Loans of purchased subsidiary 15 (48,500) 0 0 0

Loans to subsidiaries 0 0 (27,579) (1,925)

Dividends paid (11,800) 0 (11,800) 0

Net Cash Outflow from Financing Activities (51,588) (63,301) 18,172 (62,080)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held 1,607 (2,125) 3,582 (2,336)

Cash Balance at Beginning of the Year 3,275 5,400 588 2,924

Cash Balance at End of the Year 4,882 3,275 4,170 588

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2003

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
Note $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

The notes set out on pages 47 to 68 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.
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1. Statement of Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity
Mighty River Power Limited is a company registered under
the Companies Act 1993 and is a reporting entity for the
purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993
and comprise the following: significant accounting policies,
statements of financial performance, movements in equity,
financial position and cash flows, as well as the notes to
these statements.

The Parent Company’s financial statements are for Mighty
River Power Limited (the “Company”) and the consolidated
financial statements are for Mighty River Power Limited
Group (the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements
comprise the Company, its subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures.

Constitution, Ownership and Activities
Mighty River Power Limited is wholly owned by Her
Majesty the Queen in Right of New Zealand (the Crown).
Consequently, the Company is bound by the requirements
of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

The liabilities of the Company are not guaranteed in any
way by the Crown. 

The Group’s principal activities are the generation, trading
and retailing of energy.

On the acquisition of assets and liabilities from ECNZ, 
the Company undertook a fair value exercise as at 1 April
1999.  As a result, the fair value of assets and liabilities 
at 1 April 1999 is deemed to be their historical cost.

Measurement Base
The financial statements are prepared on the basis 
of historical cost with the exception of certain items 
for which specific accounting policies are identified, 
as noted below.

Specific Accounting Policies
The following specific accounting policies that materially
affect the measurement of financial performance,
financial position and cash flows have been applied.

Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Group holds a
controlling interest either directly, indirectly or beneficially
in the equity.  Subsidiaries are consolidated under the
purchase method on a line-by-line basis. All material
inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
surpluses and deficits arising from transactions between
Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Company holds
an equity interest and over which the company has the
capacity to exercise significant influence but not control.
Associates are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements on an equity accounting basis which recognises
the Company’s share of retained surpluses or deficits in
the consolidated statement of financial performance and
its share of post acquisition increases or decreases in net
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are joint arrangements with other parties 
in which the Company has several liability in respect of
costs and liabilities, and shares in any resulting output. 
The Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of joint ventures is incorporated into the Company
and Group financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost.

Short-term investments comprise investments that
mature or are otherwise realisable within not more than
twelve months from the date of purchase and are stated 
at cost, less unamortised premium or discount.

Acquisition or Disposal during the Year
Where an entity becomes or ceases to be a Group entity
during the year, the results of that entity are included in
the net surplus of the Group from the date of acquisition
or up to the date of disposal.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase
consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired at the date of acquisition of an equity interest.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2003



48 MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3

Goodwill is recognised as an asset and separately
disclosed. Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the period of expected benefits.

Discount on acquisition of businesses is accounted for by
reducing the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired.

Operating Revenue
Operating revenue recognised in the Statement of
Financial Performance includes the amounts received and
receivable for energy and related energy services supplied
to customers in the ordinary course of business.
Operating revenue is stated exclusive of:

• transmission costs paid to Transpower and distribution
costs paid to lines companies as collected from
customers, and

• goods and services tax collected from customers.

Operating revenue includes the value of units assessed 
as being recorded on meters as at balance date, but 
for which invoices have not yet been rendered.

Receivables
Receivables are stated at their estimated realisable value,
after providing for debts where collection is doubtful. 
Bad debts are expensed during the period in which they 
are identified.

Taxation
The taxation expense charged to the Statement of
Financial Performance includes both the current year’s
provision and the income tax effect of timing differences
calculated using the liability method.

Tax effect accounting is applied on a comprehensive basis
to all timing differences.  A debit balance in the deferred
taxation account arising from timing differences or income
tax benefits from income tax losses, is only recognised if
there is virtual certainty of realisation.

Foreign Currencies
Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated 
at exchange rates ruling at balance date. Exchange
differences arising on translation are taken to the Statement
of Financial Performance. Hedged foreign currency assets
and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange
determined by the underlying hedge contracts.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange
rates ruling at the date of the transaction except where
hedging contracts are taken out to cover short-term forward
currency commitments, in which case the transaction is
translated at the forward rate specified in those contracts.

The assets and liabilities of independent foreign
operations are translated at the exchange rates ruling at
balance date. Revenue and expense items are translated
at the spot rate at the transaction date or a rate
approximating that rate. Exchange differences are taken 
to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts which 
are not designated as hedges are valued at the forward
rate of exchange at balance date and the resulting
surpluses and deficits are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Performance.

Debt
Debt as at 1 April 1999 was stated at fair value. All
subsequent debt is stated at face value. Borrowing costs
such as origination, commitment and transaction fees 
are expensed as incurred.

The Company acquired a portfolio of debt from ECNZ 
on 1 April 1999 with various maturities, interest rates 
and currencies. Pursuant to a fair value assessment, the
interest rates applying to this debt portfolio were marked-
to-market at 1 April 1999. The resulting provision is being
amortised on the basis of the difference between market
yield at 1 April 1999 and yield-to-maturity over the
remaining term of the debt.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Owned Assets
The value of property, plant and equipment acquired 
on 1 April 1999 was adjusted to fair value. This value 
is deemed to be historical cost.

Freehold land and buildings disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements at valuation is determined by 
an independent valuer. The basis of valuation is economic
value less the estimated costs of disposal, on an existing
use basis. Any surplus on revaluation of a class of
property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
the asset revaluation reserve unless it offsets a previous
decrease in value recognised in the Statement of Financial
Performance, in which case it is recognised in the
Statement of Financial Performance. A deficit on
revaluation of a class of property, plant and equipment 
is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance
in the period it arises where it exceeds any surplus
previously transferred to the asset revaluation reserve.
Additions to property, plant and equipment stated at
valuation subsequent to the most recent valuation are
recorded at cost. Office land and buildings are revalued 
to net market value tri-annually.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003



All other items of property, plant and equipment are
recorded at cost.

The cost of property, plant and equipment purchased
comprises the consideration given to acquire the assets
plus other directly attributable costs incurred in bringing
the assets to the location and condition necessary for their
intended service.

The cost of property, plant and equipment constructed by
the Group, including capital work in progress, includes the
cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour
specifically associated and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed overheads.  Financing costs attributable
to a project are capitalised at the Group’s specific project
finance interest rate, where these meet certain time and
monetary materiality limits.  Costs cease to be capitalised
as soon as an asset is ready for productive use.

Where appropriate, the cost of property, plant and
equipment includes site preparation costs, installation
costs, unrecovered operating costs incurred during planned
commissioning and the cost of obtaining resource consents.

Provision is made for any permanent impairment in the
value of property, plant and equipment.

Where property, plant and equipment is disposed of, the
surplus or deficit recognised in the Statement of Financial
Performance is calculated as the difference between the
sale price and the carrying value of the property, plant 
and equipment.

Leased Assets
The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified
as finance leases and are capitalised. The asset and
corresponding liability are recorded at the inception of 
the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, at amounts
equivalent to the discounted present value of minimum
lease payments, including residual values.

Finance charges are apportioned over the terms of the
respective leases.

The cost of improvements to leasehold property are
capitalised and amortised over the estimated useful 
life of the improvements, or over the unexpired portion 
of the lease, whichever is shorter.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 

of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

Operating lease payments are representative of the
pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets and
accordingly are charged to the Statement of Financial
Performance in the periods in which they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on 
all property, plant and equipment other than freehold
land and capital work in progress, so as to write down
the assets to their estimated residual value over their
expected useful lives. The annual depreciation rates 
are as follows:

Freehold buildings 1 – 2 %

Generation plant:

- Hydro 2%

- Geothermal 5 – 7%

- Co-generation 7%

- Landfill 10%

Meters 4 – 10%

Computer hardware and software 20 – 33%

Other plant and equipment 10 – 20%

Motor vehicles 20%

Distinction between Capital and Revenue Expenditure
Capital expenditure is defined as all expenditure on the
purchase or creation of a new asset, and any expenditure
that results in a significant improvement to the original
functionality of an existing asset.

Revenue expenditure is defined as expenditure that restores
an asset to its original operating capability and all expenditure
incurred in maintaining and operating the business.

Insurance
The Group’s property, plant and equipment is
predominantly concentrated at power station locations
which have the potential to sustain major losses through
damage to plant and resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, 
the major portion of the assessed risk is transferred 
to insurance companies by taking out insurance policies 
with appropriate counter parties. Any uninsured loss 
is expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance 
in the year in which the loss is incurred.
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Rehabilitation Costs
Estimations are made for the expected cost of environmental
rehabilitation of commercial sites that require some level of
reinstatement resulting from present operations. Any liability
is recognised when exposure is identified and rehabilitation
costs can be reasonably estimated.

Resource Consents
Costs incurred in obtaining a resource consent are
capitalised and recognised as a non-current asset where 
they give rise to future economic benefit. These costs are
amortised over the life of the consent on a straight-line basis.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable
value.  Cost is determined on a weighted average basis
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing condition
and location.

Employee Entitlements
A liability for annual leave is accrued and recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position.  The liability is stated
at the estimated value of future cash outflows resulting
from employee services provided up to balance date.

Financial Instruments
Treasury
The Group has various financial instruments with 
off-balance sheet risk for the purpose of reducing its
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates.  

For interest rate swap agreements, the differential to 
be paid or received is accrued and is recognised as a
component of interest expense or interest revenue over
the life of the swap agreement.

Premiums paid on interest rate and currency options and
the net settlement on maturity of forward rate agreements,
futures and options are amortised over the life of the
underlying asset or liability protected by the instrument.

Financial instruments entered into with no corresponding
underlying position are accounted for on a mark-to-market
basis and surpluses and deficits are taken to the
Statement of Financial Performance as they accrue.

Energy Contracts
The Group has entered into a number of contracts to manage
its exposure to price fluctuations on the electricity spot
market. These contracts are in the form of power supply

agreements, contracts for difference, over-the-counter
swaps and exchange traded futures. They are not undertaken
for speculative purposes. These energy contracts establish
the price at which future specified quantities of electricity 
are purchased, sold or otherwise exchanged.

Surpluses and deficits on energy contracts are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance 
in the period incurred.

Pursuant to the fair value assessment of assets and
liabilities acquired, a portfolio of energy contracts existing
at 1 April 1999 was marked-to-market using an expected
price path for future wholesale electricity prices
determined by independent experts.  The resulting net
present values of unrealised revenues and expenses
associated with these contracts have been recognised 
in the financial statements at balance date and the
provisions are amortised over the remaining terms of
individual contracts based on the expected price path.

Statement of Cash Flows
The following are the definitions of the terms used in the
Statement of Cash Flows.

• Cash includes cash on hand and bank current
accounts, net of bank overdrafts.

• Investing activities are those activities relating to the
acquisition, holding and disposal of property, plant and
equipment and of investments.  Investments can include
securities not falling within the definition of cash.

• Financing activities are those activities that result 
in changes in the size and composition of the equity
structure of the Group.  This includes both equity and
debt not falling within the definition of cash. Dividends
paid in relation to equity structure are included in
financing activities.

• Operating activities include all transactions and other
events that are not investing or financing activities.

The Statement of Cash Flows includes net cash flows 
from loan advances as the rollover of loans and deposits 
is covered by an arranged finance facility.

Comparatives
Prior year comparatives have been restated to conform
with current year presentation.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during
the period.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003
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Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

2. Operating Revenue

Operating revenue was derived from:

Continuing activities 646,246 594,152 566,801 555,648

Discontinued activities 0 956 0 956

646,246 595,108 566,801 556,604

3. Operating Surplus Before Interest 
and Non-recurring Items

After charging/(crediting):

Amortisation of energy contracts (15,610) (23,565) (15,610) (23,565)

Net foreign currency exchange (gains)/losses (105) (4,764) 186 (4,484)

Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment (277) (284) (277) (284)

Bad debts written off 2,906 7,075 2,906 7,075

Change in provision for doubtful debts (571) (1,217) (571) (1,788)

Depreciation:

- Buildings 5,138 4,979 4,442 4,472

- Generation plant 35,763 32,607 23,794 23,830

- Meters 3,078 3,343 3,078 3,343

- Computer hardware and software 7,338 8,093 7,338 8,093

- Other plant and equipment 2,188 2,122 2,090 2,031

- Motor vehicles 191 142 191 142

Rental and operating lease costs 1,427 1,524 1,427 1,524

Directors’ fees 294 250 294 250

Donations 55 51 55 51

Fees paid to auditors for:

- Auditing the financial statements 157 145 119 115

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 187 48 187 48

Amortisation of goodwill 469 1,124 0 0

Amortisation of other non-current assets 1,347 858 1,272 858

In addition, fees paid to auditors of $46,000 have been capitalised as a non-current asset in relation to the Bonds issued
in May 2003 (refer note 19).

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003
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5.Taxation Expense

Surplus before taxation 126,608 67,291 83,618 58,936

Taxation at 33 cents 41,781 22,206 27,594 19,449

Taxation effect of permanent differences:

Release from Southdown energy contract (24,470) 0 (24,470) 0

Amortisation of energy contracts (1,486) (4,134) (1,486) (4,134)

Other permanent differences (2,324) 2,332 4,834 4,194

Prior year adjustments (424) (196) (593) (40)

Taxation Expense 13,077 20,208 5,879 19,469

Analysis of Taxation Expense

Current taxation 9,623 9,573 2,454 10,374

Deferred taxation 3,454 10,635 3,425 9,095

13,077 20,208 5,879 19,469

6. Net Surplus After Taxation

Net surplus after taxation was derived from:

Continuing activities 113,531 47,901 77,739 40,285

Discontinued activities 0 (818) 0 (818)

113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

4. Non-recurring Items

Exit from Southdown Power Sale Agreement 43,153 0 12,153 0

Write-off of Southdown goodwill (8,243) 0 0 0

Movement in obligations assumed on acquisition 0 8,000 0 0

Loss on disposal of business 0 (1,053) 0 (1,053)

Net (loss) on insurance claim 0 (365) 0 0

Other (693) 190 285 190

34,217 6,772 12,438 (863)

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Exit from Southdown Power Sale Agreement
On 28 November 2002 the Group exited from the Southdown Power Sale Agreement. The amount of $43,153,000 relates
to the net gain from exiting this arrangement, including a termination payment and reversal of an onerous 
energy contract provision.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003



MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3 53

7. Imputation Credit Account

Balance at beginning of the year 21,545 11,135

Imputation credits attached to dividends received 6 0

Imputation credits attached to the dividend paid during the year (5,812) 0

Income tax payments during the year 14,054 10,410

Balance at end of the year 29,793 21,545

At balance date the imputation credits available to the shareholder were:

Through direct shareholding in the Company 29,737 21,489

Through indirect interests in subsidiaries 56 56

29,793 21,545

8. Share Capital
The share capital is represented by 377,561,000 (2002: 377,561,000) ordinary shares issued and fully paid. 
All shares have equal voting rights and share equally in dividends and surplus on winding up.

Parent

2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 

9. Reserves

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at beginning and end of the year 244,953 244,953 342,204 342,204

Retained Surplus

Balance at beginning of the year 137,451 90,368 85,822 46,355

Net surplus after taxation for the year 113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

Final dividend paid (11,800) 0 (11,800) 0

Balance at end of the year 239,182 137,451 151,761 85,822

484,135 382,404 493,965 428,026

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003



54 MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3

10. Loans

Bank loans (secured) 0 48,839 0 0

Bank loans (unsecured) 126,000 148,000 126,000 148,000

Commercial paper (unsecured) 128,771 117,098 128,771 117,098

Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured) 200,000 0 200,000 0

ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured) 16,000 148,122 16,000 148,122

470,771 462,059 470,771 413,220

Repayable as follows: Interest rate:

Within one year 5.5% to 5.6% 36,000 252,657 36,000 249,220

One to two years 5.2% to 5.3% 128,771 86,754 128,771 83,000

Two to five years 5.5% to 5.6% 90,000 78,458 90,000 65,000

Later than five years 7.0% to 8.0% 216,000 44,190 216,000 16,000

Total 470,771 462,059 470,771 413,220

Less current portion 36,000 252,657 36,000 249,220

Total term loans 434,771 209,402 434,771 164,000

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

The unsecured bank loans represent amounts drawn down at balance date on $425 million of revolving advance facilities
of which $100 million matures in October 2003, $100 million matures in March 2004, $75 million matures in October
2004, and $150 million matures in November 2007. These facilities carry floating interest rates which, at balance date,
ranged from 5.5% to 5.6%.

The unsecured commercial paper provides liquidity support by a cash advances and standby facility made available 
by four syndicated banks. The cash advances and standby facility expires in March 2005. It is the Company’s intention 
to continually re-new this facility for the foreseeable future.

The unsecured and unsubordinated Fixed Rate Bonds represent subscriptions dated 9 May 2003. The Bonds issued 
have a maturity date of 15 May 2013 unless the Company exercises its early repayment option to redeem the Bonds 
on 15 May 2008. The Bonds carry a fixed interest rate of 7.01% for the first five years.

The Company has entered into a Master Trust Deed with the New Zealand Guardian Trust Company Limited, acting 
as trustee for the holders of Fixed Rate Bonds, in which the Company has agreed subject to certain exceptions, not 
to create or permit to exist a security interest over or effecting its assets to secure indebtedness, and to maintain a
minimum level of shareholders’ equity. The Company has also entered into a Supplementary Trust Deed for the specific
issue of $200 million of 10 year Fixed Rate Bonds. 

The Company has entered into a negative pledge deed in favour of its bank financiers in which the Company has agreed
subject to certain exceptions, not to create or permit to exist a security interest over or affecting its assets to secure its
indebtedness; and to maintain certain financial ratios in relation to the Company.  

The Loans from ECNZ Residual include an amount of US$nil (2002: US$22,488,756). The USD loan was repaid in October 2002.

A provision of $23.4 million was made as at 1 April 1999 as a fair value adjustment to recognise the above market
interest rates being incurred on certain tranches of the borrowings from ECNZ Residual. This provision is being
amortised over the life of the debt.
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11. Payables and Accruals

Trade payables 66,614 70,336 61,197 66,230

Employee entitlements 1,167 923 1,167 923

Sundry creditors 11,416 14,681 7,008 8,315

79,197 85,940 69,372 75,468

12. Provisions

Provision for Prompt Payment Discounts

Balance at beginning of the year 3,191 3,453 3,191 3,453

Movements during the year 131 (262) 131 (262)

Balance at end of the year 3,322 3,191 3,322 3,191

Provision for prompt payment discounts represents the prompt payment discount allowed for electricity retail
customers.  The discount is utilised when outstanding accounts are paid by the due date as specified on the monthly
electricity invoice.  The level of discount provided for is assessed on an ongoing basis.

13. Deferred Taxation

Balance at beginning of the year 13,586 2,951 7,873 (1,222)

Movements during the year:

Timing differences 3,831 10,375 3,818 9,088

Acquisition of subsidiary 5,753 0 0 0

Prior year adjustments (377) 260 (393) 7

Balance at end of the year 22,793 13,586 11,298 7,873

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold Land 

At valuation 9,301 7,869 6,522 5,090

9,301 7,869 6,522 5,090
Freehold Buildings

At valuation 234,442 227,506 219,434 220,063

Accumulated depreciation (23,902) (17,024) (19,007) (14,632)

210,540 210,482 200,427 205,431
Generation Plant

At cost 104,918 24,107 20,790 20,421

Accumulated depreciation (35,352) (2,350) (1,719) (1,200)

At valuation 1,148,075 1,148,932 1,022,138 1,022,138

Accumulated depreciation (138,153) (114,167) (99,288) (76,014)

1,079,488 1,056,522 941,921 965,345
Meters

At cost 51,989 47,472 51,989 47,472

Accumulated depreciation (14,190) (11,112) (14,190) (11,112)

37,799 36,360 37,799 36,360
Computer Hardware and Software

At cost 33,751 38,639 32,890 38,580

Accumulated depreciation (25,002) (24,832) (24,935) (24,803)

8,749 13,807 7,955 13,777
Other Plant and Equipment

At cost 15,190 11,698 14,553 11,168

Accumulated depreciation (10,254) (6,133) (10,008) (5,973)

4,936 5,565 4,545 5,195
Motor Vehicles

At cost 1,212 793 1,113 729

Accumulated depreciation (516) (378) (470) (356)

696 415 643 373
Capital Work in Progress

At cost 23,544 24,039 22,115 14,567

1,375,053 1,355,059 1,221,927 1,246,138

Freehold land and buildings shown at valuation were valued at net current value, being the lower of economic value and
depreciated replacement cost, by PriceWaterhouseCoopers (Chartered Accountants), as at 1 April 1999. Revalued office
land and buildings, included with Freehold Land and Buildings at balance date, are stated at their net current value as
determined by Attevell Gerbich Havill Limited, an independent valuer, on 14 April 2000.

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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15. Investment in Subsidiaries

Shares in subsidiaries at cost 37,959 37,959

37,959 37,959

Parent

2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 

Southdown Cogeneration Limited * 100 100 Electricity generation 30 June

Rotokawa Generation Limited 100 100 Electricity generation 30 June

Mighty River Power Investments Limited 100 100 Investment holding 30 June

Mighty River Power (Rotokawa) Limited 100 100 Investment holding 30 June

ECNZ International Limited 100 100 Investment holding 30 June

Enalysis Limited 100 0 Electricity services 30 June

Energy Auckland Limited 100 100 Non trading 30 June

First Electric Limited 100 100 Non trading 30 June

Mercury Energy Limited 100 100 Non trading 30 June

PT ECNZ Services Indonesia 100 100 Non trading 31 December

Rotokawa Geothermal Limited 100 100 Non trading 30 June

Southdown Cogen Power Limited 100 0 Non trading 30 June 

*previously Mighty River Power Southdown Limited

Company % Holding Principal Activities Balance Date

2003 2002

Subsidiaries comprise:
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Net assets acquired:

Cash 9,393

Other current assets 2,831

Property, plant and equipment 61,842

Current liabilities (12,434)

Non-current liabilities (48,500) 13,132

Difference between net value of assets acquired and cash paid (Discount on acquisition) (13,032)

Cash paid 100

The discount on acquisition has been allocated against property, plant and equipment.

$ 000 $ 000 

15. Investment in Subsidiaries (continued)

Acquisition of interest in Southdown
On 30 November 2002 the Group acquired the remaining 50.0% interest in the Southdown joint venture, this interest was
amalgamated into Mighty River Power Southdown Limited. Details of the acquisition are as follows:

The change in the Southdown shareholding during the year arose as a consequence of the acquisition of an additional
50.0% shareholding, on 30 November 2002, from the other joint venture partner. The results of the joint venture are
recorded for the five months up to the date of acquisition of the remaining 50% interest. From 30 November 2002
Southdown has been accounted for as a 100% owned subsidiary.

The Group’s share of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities of joint ventures which have been proportionately
consolidated within the financial statements are as follows:

Rosedale/Greenmount 77.3 77.3 Energy generation 30 June

Silverstream 93.0 93.0 Energy generation 30 June

Rotokawa 50.0 50.0 Energy generation 30 June

Southdown 0.0 50.0 Energy generation 30 June

Joint Venture % Holding Principal Activities Balance Date

2003 2002

16. Joint Ventures
The Company has interests in the following joint ventures:
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16. Joint Ventures (continued) 

Southdown

Share of revenue 11,942 32,323

Share of expenses 12,028 31,780

Current assets 0 11,711

Non-current assets 0 51,906

Share of assets 0 63,617

Current liabilities 0 11,026

Non-current liabilities 0 45,402

Share of liabilities 0 56,428

Rotokawa

Share of revenue 3,998 1,513

Share of expenses 3,897 1,406

Non-current assets 2,584 3,417

Share of assets 2,584 3,417

Current liabilities 400 92

Share of liabilities 400 92

Silverstream

Share of revenue 590 364

Share of expenses 402 366

Current assets 701 524

Non-current assets 2,257 2,107

Share of assets 2,958 2,631

Current liabilities 209 96

Share of liabilities 209 96

Rosedale/Greenmount

Share of revenue 2,209 2,328

Share of expenses 1,177 2,215

Ownership of and responsibility for the assets of Rosedale/Greenmount are retained by the party contributing 
those assets. The financial statements of Rosedale/Greenmount are unaudited.

Group

2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 
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17. Interest in Associates

Shares at cost 250 0 0 0

250 0 0 0

On 18 June 2003 the Group acquired a 25% ownership in TPC Holdings Limited, whose principal activity is investing 
in its 100% owned subsidiary Tuaropaki Power Company Limited an electricity generator. At balance date the Group 
and Parent had made advances to Tuaropaki Power Company Limited of $6,666,000 (2002: $7,119,000).  

18. Intangibles

Goodwill

Cost 11,242 11,242 0 0

Accumulated amortisation (11,242) (2,530) 0 0

0 8,712 0 0

During the year the Group exited from the Southdown Power Sale Agreement and acquired the remaining 
50% in the Southdown Joint Venture. As part of the transaction the remaining goodwill was written off (refer note 4).

19. Other Non-current Assets

Energy contracts 8,005 3,000 8,005 3,000

Generation development options 3,327 487 150 0

Bond issue costs 3,106 0 3,106 0

14,438 3,487 11,261 3,000

20. Receivables and Prepayments

Subsidiaries 0 0 101,466 73,887

Trade receivables 84,292 87,641 82,713 82,706

Sundry receivables 7,118 9,672 7,249 4,622

Prepayments 3,681 2,097 3,676 2,097

95,091 99,410 195,104 163,312

21. Inventories

Consumable stores 2,643 2,253 2,643 2,253

Finished goods 373 562 373 562

3,016 2,815 3,016 2,815

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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22. Reconciliation of Net Surplus after Taxation 
with Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net Surplus after Taxation 113,531 47,083 77,739 39,467

Add (less) non-cash items:

Depreciation 53,696 51,286 40,933 41,911

Amortisation of energy contracts (15,610) (23,565) (15,610) (23,565)

Amortisation of goodwill 469 1,124 0 0

Amortisation of other non-current assets 1,347 858 1,272 858

Movement in obligations assumed on acquisition of businesses 0 (12,337) 0 0

Release from Southdown energy contract (74,153) 0 (74,153) 0

Write-off of Southdown goodwill 8,243 0 0 0

Foreign exchange gains on USD loan 0 (4,507) 0 (4,507)

Other non-cash items 326 1,384 0 618

(25,682) 14,243 (47,558) 15,315

Add (less) movements in working capital:

Decrease (increase) in receivables and prepayments 4,319 78,841 (4,213) 83,074

Decrease (increase) in inventories (201) 688 (201) 688

(Decrease) in payables and accruals (6,688) (74,357) (5,965) (79,247)

(Decrease) in provision for taxation (3,679) (790) (12,015) (1,107)

Increase in deferred taxation 9,207 10,635 3,425 9,095

2,958 15,017 (18,969) 12,503

Add (less) items classified as investing activities:

Transfers between group companies 0 0 0 1,925

Working capital acquired on purchase of subsidiary 
and joint venture (9,603) 19 0 0

Movement in other non-current assets 523 1,510 615 93

(9,080) 1,529 615 2,018

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 81,727 77,872 11,827 69,303

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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23. Commitments

Capital Commitments

Commitments for future capital expenditure are:

Within one year 2,214 13,000 864 8,334

One to two years 29,750 0 29,750 0

31,964 13,000 30,614 8,334

Operating Commitments

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 
and other contracts

Within one year 1,790 1,447 1,790 1,447

One to two years 1,598 1,134 1,598 1,134

Two to five years 3,622 3,178 3,622 3,178

Later than five years 834 1,740 834 1,740

7,844 7,499 7,844 7,499

24. Contingencies
Mighty River Power Limited and certain subsidiaries have cross-guaranteed the due and punctual payment of each
other’s Guaranteed Indebtedness in relation to bank borrowings under a Standby and Cash Advances Facility and 
a Revolving Advances Facility.

Mighty River Power Limited has guaranteed payment obligations of $20.0 million pursuant to a letter of credit provided
by a bank in favour of the market clearing company (M-Co Clearing House Limited).

Mighty River Power Limited has a number of potential on-going support projects with community based groups.

Mighty River Power Limited has a contingent liability in respect of the Accident Compensation Corporation’s residual
claims levy.  The levy is payable annually from May 1999 for up to fifteen years.  The Group’s future liability is a function
of the Accident Compensation Corporation’s unfunded liability for past claims and future payments to employees.

Mighty River Power Limited has guaranteed payment obligations of $29.8 million to TPC Holdings Limited pursuant 
to a letter of credit provided by a bank in favour of TPC Holdings Limited. 

Mighty River Power Limited holds land and interests that may be affected by certain claims that have been brought 
or are pending against the Crown under the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975. In the event that a recommendation is made 
by the Waitangi Tribunal for the return of some or all of the affected land, and that recommendation is confirmed by 
the Crown, resumption would be effected by the Crown under the Public Works Act 1981 and compensation would 
be payable to Mighty River Power Limited.

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
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25. Resource Consents
Mighty River Power Limited requires land, water and air consents, obtained under the Resource Management Act 1991
(the Act), to enable it to operate its geothermal, thermal and hydro power stations. The duration of consents under 
the Act is for a maximum of 35 years.  The current resource consents within which the hydro power stations operate
nominally expired on 1 October 2001 but remain in effect until such time as the Company’s applications for new
consents are heard and determined. The consenting authority (Waikato Regional Council) heard the application in
November 2002. The hearings were closed on 14 August 2003. However, the final form of the Consent will not be known
until completion of any Appeals process.

26. Segment Information
Mighty River Power Limited operates predominantly in one segment, being the generation and marketing of electricity 
in New Zealand.

27. Financial Instruments

Revenue Risk – Energy Contracts
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into energy contracts that establish a fixed price at which future
specified quantities of electricity are purchased, sold or otherwise exchanged. The Group’s exposure to spot electricity
prices is limited by a Board approved Wholesale Electricity Trading Risk Management Policy. 

On maturity of the energy contracts, any difference between the hedge price and the spot market price is settled
between the parties. Settlement occurs irrespective of the amount of electricity actually supplied or consumed.

Credit Risk
To the extent that Mighty River Power Limited has a receivable from another party, there is a credit risk in the event 
of non-performance by that counter party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Group to credit risk
principally consist of bank balances, receivables, investments and interest rate swaps.

Mighty River Power Limited manages its exposure to credit risk. The Group performs credit evaluations on all electricity
customers and normally requires a bond from customers who have yet to establish a suitable credit history with Mighty
River Power Limited.

The Group monitors the credit quality of the major financial institutions that are counter parties to its off balance sheet
financial instruments and does not anticipate non-performance by the counter parties. 

With respect to energy contracts, the Group has a potential credit risk exposure to the counter party dependent on 
the spot market price at settlement, and does not anticipate any non-performance of any obligations which may exist 
on maturity of these contracts. Credit risk in relation to these counter-parties is managed in accordance with a Board
approved Wholesale Electricity Trading Risk Management Policy.
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Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Maximum exposures to credit risk at balance date are:

M-co Clearing House Limited 19,867 15,221 19,867 15,221

QBE Insurance (International) Limited 0 5,050 0 0

The Group does not have any other significant concentrations of credit risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Mighty River Power Limited has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts to manage these exposures which are 100%
hedged at balance date.  At balance date the principal or contract amounts of foreign currency forward exchange
contracts are:

Foreign currency  forward exchange contracts 97 58,327 97 53,691

At balance date the Group also has US funds of $451,052 (2002:  $35,428) in US dollar accounts that are not hedged.  

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Bank balances 4,882 3,275 4,170 588

Receivables 95,091 99,410 195,104 163,312

Taxation receivable 4,449 770 12,252 237

Investments 6,916 7,119 6,666 7,119

Interest rate swaps 2,522 1,834 2,522 1,834

The above maximum exposures are net of any recognised provision for losses on these financial instruments.
Collateral in the form of customer bonds totalling $582,000 is held in respect of the above amounts.

Concentrations of credit risk

Included in receivables are the following balances:
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Group 2003

Assets

Cash 5.6% 4,882 4,882 0 0 0

Investments 18.0% 6,916 0 0 0 6,916

Total Assets 11,798 4,882 0 0 6,916

Less Liabilities

Bank loans (unsecured) 5.6% 126,000 36,000 0 90,000 0

Commercial paper (unsecured) 5.3% 128,771 0 128,771 0 0

Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured) 7.0% 200,000 0 0 200,000 0

ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured) 8.0% 16,000 0 0 0 16,000

Total Liabilities 470,771 36,000 128,771 290,000 16,000

Off Balance Sheet

Interest rate swaps 400,000 35,000 15,000 245,000 105,000

Interest rate options 50,000 25,000 25,000 0 0

Repricing Profile (8,973) 28,882 (88,771) (45,000) 95,916

Effective Total Within One to Two Two to Five Later than
Interest Rate One Year Years Years Five Years

% $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Group Parent

2003 2002 2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Interest rate swaps 400,000 255,000 400,000 220,000

Interest rate options 50,000 82,500 50,000 75,000

Repricing Analysis
The following tables identify the periods in which repriced financial instruments are subject to interest rate risk. 
The overall effective interest rate incorporates the effect of the relevant derivative contracts.

27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest Rate Risk
Mighty River Power Limited has exposure to interest rate risk to the extent that it borrows for a fixed term at floating
interest rates. The Group manages its cost of borrowing by placing limits on the proportion of floating to fixed rate
borrowings.

The Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate options to manage interest rate risk.
At balance date the principal or contract amounts of interest rate swaps and interest rate options outstanding are:
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Group 2002

Assets

Cash 5.4% 3,275 3,275 0 0 0

Investments 18.0% 7,119 0 0 0 7,119

Total Assets 10,394 3,275 0 0 7,119

Less Liabilities

Bank loans (secured) 7.2% 48,839 3,437 3,754 13,458 28,190

Bank loans (unsecured) 6.0% 148,000 0 83,000 65,000 0

Commercial paper (unsecured) 6.0% 117,098 117,098 0 0 0

ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured) 5.2% 148,122 132,122 0 0 16,000

Total Liabilities 462,059 252,657 86,754 78,458 44,190

Off Balance Sheet

Interest rate swaps 255,000 10,000 85,000 65,000 95,000

Interest rate options 82,500 32,500 25,000 25,000 0

Repricing Profile (114,165) (206,882) 23,246 11,542 57,929

Effective Total Within One to Two Two to Five Later than
Interest Rate One Year Years Years Five Years

% $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Interest rate swaps 2,522 (13,805) 1,834 691

Interest rate options 654 5 575 415

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts 0 (1) (1,887) (2,644)

Fair Values

The estimated fair values of financial instruments that differ from carrying values are as follows:

Group and Parent 2003 Group and Parent 2002

Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

27. Financial Instruments (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003



MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3 67

27. Financial Instruments (continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Bank balances, receivables, payables, loans, investments
The carrying amount is the fair value for each of these classes of financial instrument and accordingly they are excluded
from the table above.

Foreign currency options and foreign currency forward exchange contracts
The fair value of these classes of financial instruments is based on the quoted market price of comparable instruments.

Interest rate swaps and interest rate options
The fair value of these classes of financial instruments is the current market valuation provided by the Group’s bankers.

Energy contracts
The fair value of energy price hedge contracts varies in accordance with the market price for electricity.

As at balance date, the face value of energy contracts amounted to $1,553.6 million (2002: $2,270.2 million) with terms
of up to 12 years.

The carrying value of energy contracts in the financial statements of $66.1 million (2002: $155.8 million) represents the
value of the contracts acquired by the Group on 1 April 1999, as valued by PriceWaterhouseCoopers, less the
amortisation credited to the Statement of Financial Performance since the date of acquisition.

28. Related Party Transactions
During the year the Company entered into the following transactions with subsidiaries:

Management fees charged to subsidiaries/joint ventures 1,531 1,512

Advances to subsidiaries 101,466 73,887

Advances to associates 6,666 0

Parent

2003 2002
$ 000 $ 000 

Advances are interest free and repayable on demand with the exception of Mighty River Power Investments Limited with
regard to advances in Mighty River Power (Rotokawa) Limited and Southdown Cogeneration Limited.

Mighty River Power Limited uses the services of a number of law firms including Simpson Grierson.  Carole Durbin, 
a director and deputy chair, is a partner in the law firm Simpson Grierson.  Other partners and staff of that firm have
rendered various legal services to the Group in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms. The
Company has incurred expenditure for the period of $294,420 (2002: $107,841) with Simpson Grierson with related
amounts payable at balance date of $26,080 (2002: $30,954).

Doug Heffernan (Chief Executive) a director of Mighty River Power Investments Limited and its subsidiaries is also a
director of TPC Holdings Limited and Tuaropaki Power Company Limited and Tim Densem (General Manager Generation
Assets) is a director of Damwatch Services Limited. In addition Michael Kedian was a director of ECNZ International
Limited, PT ECNZ Services Indonesia and was also a director of Tuaropaki Power Company Limited and Damwatch
Services Limited until 12 December 2002. 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003
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28. Related Party Transactions (continued)
The Company has the following transactions and balances with these entities:

Tuaropaki Power Company Limited:
Interest Income from advances totalled $1,287,842 (2002: $2,021,278) and related amounts receivable at balance date 
of $991,228 (2002: $826,890). 

Net receipts (payments) on energy contracts totalled $12,691,368 (2002: ($1,244,185)) and related amounts receivable
(payable) at balance date of $433,518 (2002: ($126,838)).

Revenue under the Mokai operations and maintenance contract of $2,117,179 (2002: $2,023,384) and related amounts
receivable at balance date of $484,075 (2002: $280,070).

Damwatch Services Limited:
Monitoring services expense for the period of $1,746,045 (2002: $2,463,316) and related amounts payable at balance 
date of $nil (2002: $nil).

Directors and employees of the Group deal with Mighty River Power Limited as electricity consumers on normal terms
and conditions within the ordinary course of trading activities.

No related party debts have been written off or forgiven during the year. 

The ultimate shareholder of Mighty River Power Limited is the Crown. All transactions with the Crown and other 
State-Owned Enterprises are at arm’s length, and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended scope 
of related party disclosures.

29. Subsequent Events
Mighty River Power Limited is to make a new offer into the Fixed Rate Bond market for up to $100 million, with the 
right to accept over-subscriptions of up to $50 million. The Bonds will be unsecured and unsubordinated and will be 
for a period of approximately eight years, with Mighty Power River Limited having the option to make early repayment 
in September 2006. The offer for the Bonds will open on 25 August 2003 and is expected to close on 12 September 2003.

There are no other events subsequent to balance date that would affect the fair presentation of these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2003
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Four Year Financial Review

Statement of Financial Performance

Operating revenue 646, 246 595,108 646, 730 470, 544 

Operating surplus before interest & non-recurring items 119,474 87,177 103,946 82,423 

Net interest (27,083) (26,658) (34,899) (29,077)

Non-recurring items 34,217 6,772 7,660 619 

Surplus before taxation 126,608 67,291 76,707 53,965 

Taxation expense (13,077) (20,208) (17,647) (12,653)

Net surplus after taxation 113,531 47,083 59,060 41,312 

Statement of Cash Flows

Operating 81,727 77,872 110,322 68,489 

Investing (28,532) (16,696) (11,324) (107,930)

Financing (51,588) (63,301) (99,157) 36,979 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 1,607 (2,125) (159) (2,462)

Opening cash 3,275 5,400 5,559 8,021 

Closing cash 4,882 3,275 5,400 5,559 

Performance Indicators

Return on average Shareholders’ Equity (%) 14.0 6.4 8.6 6.5

Total Equity/Total Assets (%) 57.3 51.3 44.2 40.5

Net Debt/Net Debt plus Equity (%) 35.1 37.6 42.4 47.8

Free Funds from Operations/Interest Expense (times) 4.0 3.4 3.2 2.7 

2003 2002 2001 2000
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
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Statement of Financial Position

Equity and Liabilities

Share capital 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561

Reserves 484,135 382,404 335,321 276,261 

Shareholders’ equity 861,696 759,965 712,882 653,822 

Non-current liabilities

Loans 434,771 209,402 329,721 476,610 

Other 56,002 133,843 157,596 186,986 

490,773 343,245 487,317 663,596 

Current liabilities

Loans 36,000 252,657 200,146 126,824 

Other 115,376 124,780 213,093 172,096 

151,376 377,437 413,239 298,920 

Total equity and liabilities 1,503,845 1,480,647 1,613,438 1,616,338 

Assets

Non-current assets

Fixed assets 1,375,053 1,355,059 1,387,171 1,427,931 

Other 21,354 19,318 37,615 41,623 

1,396,407 1,374,377 1,424,786 1,469,554 

Current assets

Cash 4,882 3,275 5,400 5,559 

Other 102,556 102,995 183,252 141,225 

107,438 106,270 188,652 146,784 

Total assets 1,503,845 1,480,647 1,613,438 1,616,338 

2003 2002 2001 2000
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000
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Shareholders
In accordance with the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986,
the Company has two shareholders:

The Minister of State-Owned Enterprises (Hon. Mark
Burton) and the Minister of Finance (Hon. Dr. Michael
Cullen).

In accordance with Section 15 of the Act, an annual report
is to be submitted to the shareholding ministers, such
report to contain sufficient information to enable an
informed assessment to be made of the operations of the
group.  The group will provide any other information
requested by the shareholding ministers pursuant to
Section 18 of the Act.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the group are:

• generation of electricity including operation and
maintenance of generating plant and management 
of  hydro and geothermal reservoirs

• energy trading and risk management

• retailing of energy to customers including marketing of
value added products and measurement of energy sales.

Financial Performance
A full set of financial statements of Mighty River Power
Limited and the Group for the 12 month period to 30 June
2003 are included on pages 42 to 68 of this report. These
statements include details of the group’s accounting
policies on pages 47 to 50.

Remuneration of Directors
The following table sets out the total remuneration and
other benefits received by each board member as a director
of Mighty River Power Limited for the reporting period.

Name Total Received (excluding GST)

Rob Challinor $62,499

Carole Durbin $39,000

Caroline Ball $20,833

Ian Fraser $31,249

Sandy Maier $33,832

David McConnell $31,249

Tania Simpson $31,249

Wayne Walden $31,249

Hilary Webber $13,021

The shareholding ministers advise the board of the annual
total fee to be allocated between the directors.

None of the directors of Mighty River Power Limited
received any fees as director of any subsidiary company of
Mighty River Power Limited.

Disclosures of interests
The general disclosures of interest made by the directors
of Mighty River Power Limited pursuant to Section 140 (2)
of the Companies Act 1993 are shown on page 73. There
were no declarations of interests made pursuant to
Section 140 (1) of the Companies Act 1993 that were
entered in the interests register of Mighty River Power
Limited or its subsidiaries for the reporting period. No
director of Mighty River Power Limited is a shareholder of
Mighty River Power Limited or any of its subsidiaries.

Statutory Information
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Rob Challinor Northington Partners Limited: Director and Shareholder

L.E.K. Consulting Pty Limited: Australasian Advisory Board Member

Sheffield Limited: Chairman

Copthorne Waitangi Resort: Joint Venture Committee Member

The Warehouse Group Limited: Director

Ports of Auckland Limited: Director

Carole Durbin Simpson Grierson: Partner

Earthquake Commission: Commissioner

Caroline Ball Strategic Developments Limited: Director

Work and Income Enterprise Awards: Advisory Panel Member

Western Institute of Technology at Taranaki: Deputy Chair

Taranaki District Health Board: Advisory Committee Member

Ian Fraser Beca Group Limited: Executive Director

David McConnell McConnell International Ltd: Managing Director

McConnell International Property Limited: Director

Steelpipe New Zealand Limited: Director

Bisleys Environmental Limited: Director

Hawkins Construction Limited: Director

HGM Group Limited: Director

Committee for Auckland:  Trustee

Counties Manukau Pacific Trust: Trustee

Sandy Maier Maier Limited: Director

Caribbean Equity Fund: Investment Committee Chairman

Equitable Group of Companies: Director

Auckland Regional Economic Development Strategy Implementation Group: Chairman

Intelligent Optical Systems Japan, KK (Japan): Director

McConnell International Limited: Director

New Plymouth Equity Advisors Limited: Director

Porter Novelli Investor Relations Advisory Board: Director

Synergy International Limited: Director

Esphion Limited: Director

Vertex Group Holdings Limited: Director

Tania Simpson Kowhai Consulting Limited: Director

Medical Laboratory Technologists: Board Member

Te Kura Kaupapa Maori o Oparure: Board of Trustees Member

Tui Trust – Trustee

Maraeroa C Incorporation – Member of Management Committee

Wayne Walden Agritech Investments Limited: Director

Arcos Investments Limited: Director

Covita Limited: Director

Meat New Zealand: Director

Meat and Wool Innovation Limited: Director

Project K: Chairman

Tranz Rail Limited: Chairman

Maori Television Service: Chairman

Declaration of General Interest pursuant to Section 140 (2) of the Companies Act 1993 as at 20 August 2003
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Indemnity and Insurance
Mighty River Power Limited has resolved to indemnify
directors and employees for any costs or liabilities
referred to in Section 162 (3) and 162 (4) of the Companies
Act 1993.  The Company has arranged insurance for those
directors and employees in respect of any liability or costs
referred to in Section 162 (5) of the Companies Act 1993.

Employee Remuneration
During the reporting year, the number of employees
(including former employees) of Mighty River Power
Limited and its subsidiaries, not being directors, who
received remuneration and other benefits in excess of
$100,000 are:

Remuneration Bands Number of Employees

$100,001 - $110,000 7

$110,001 - $120,000 5

$120,001 - $130,000 4

$130,001 - $140,000 6

$140,001 - $150,000 1

$150,001 - $160,000 2

$160,001 - $170,000 2

$180,001 - $190,000 1

$190,001 - $200,000 1

$200,001 - $210,000 1

$210,001 - $220,000 1

$220,001 - $230,000 1

$230,001 - $240,000 1

$250,001 - $260,000 1

$310,001 - $320,000 1

$700,000 - $710,000 1*

Company Credit Rating
As at 30 June 2003, the Company had the following 
credit rating:

Standard & Poor’s Short-Term:  [A-2] Long-Term: [BBB]
Outlook: Stable

Loans to Directors:
There were no loans by the group to directors.

Directors’ Use of Information
There were no notices from directors of the group
requesting to use Company information received in their
capacity as directors which would not otherwise have been
available to them.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date
Mighty River Power Limited is to make a new offer into the
Fixed Rate Bond market for up to $100 million, with the 
right to accept over-subscriptions of up to $50 million. 
The Bonds will be unsecured and unsubordinated and 
will be for a period of approximately eight years, with
Mighty Power River Limited having the option to make
early repayment in September 2006. The offer for the
Bonds will open on 25 August 2003 and is expected to
close on 12 September 2003.

The directors are not aware of any other circumstance
since the end of the period that has significantly or may
significantly affect the operations of the group.

Annual Report Certificate
This annual report is dated 20 August 2003 and is signed
on behalf of the board by:

R L Challinor C B Durbin

Chairman Deputy Chair

Note *This includes the first payment of a retention plan.
The above remuneration includes retirement and redundancy 
entitlements.
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Directory



The energy we generate and sell
enables New Zealanders to enjoy
lives their predecessors wouldn’t
have thought possible.
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